Working Paper

1 | 2002

KOFF

Media and Peacebuilding Concepts, Actors and Challenges

swisspeace

swisspeace is an action-oriented peace-research institute with headquarters in Berne, Switzerland. It aims to prevent the outbreak of violent conflicts and to enable sustainable conflict transformation.

swisspeace sees itself as a center of excellence and information platform in the area of conflict analysis and peacebuilding. We research the causes of wars and violent conflicts, develop tools for early recognition of tensions, and formulate conflict mitigation and peacebuilding strategies. **swisspeace** contributes to information exchange and networking on current issues of peace and security policy through its analyses and reports as well as meetings and conferences.

swisspeace was founded in 1988 as the "Swiss Peace Foundation" with the goal of promoting independent peace research in Switzerland. Today **swisspeace** engages about 25 staff members. Its most important clients include the Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs (DFA) and the Swiss National Science Foundation. The Support Association enables additional peace-policy activities through its contributions. The supreme **swisspeace** body is the Foundation Council, which is comprised of representatives from politics, science, and the administration.

KOFF – Center for Peacebuilding

The Center for Peacebuilding (KOFF) was founded in March 2001 within **swisspeace** and is sponsored by the Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs (DFA) and numerous Swiss non-governmental organizations. The Center aims to strengthen the conceptual and operational peacebuilding capacities of its members. It promotes a coherent peace policy between the Swiss authorities, aid agencies, and other NGOs involved in peacebuilding activities and international cooperation. KOFF creates networks and offers information as well as advisory service on strategies, programmes and methodologies.

Editor: swisspeace

Editional staff: Ellen Bernhard, Tahir Cinar, Lorenz Jakob, Martin Kohli, Barbara Ruchti, Christopher Tütsch

Design: Leib&Gut, Visuelle Gestaltung, Bern Print: Burkhardt AG, Satz und Druck, Bern

Copies: 300

Ordering information: swisspeace, Sonnenbergstrasse 17, Postfach, CH-3000 Bern 7, Switzerland.

www.swisspeace.org, info@swisspeace.ch

© 2002 swisspeace ISBN 3-908230-49-7

Working Paper

1 | 02

K O F F Media and Peacebuilding Concepts, Actors and Challenges

Christoph Spurk

About the author

Christoph Spurk, born in 1957, is a media consultant and head of the consulting company "Strategieberatung für Medien" in Berne / Switzerland. The company works in applied media research, development cooperation and for commercial media, mainly in Germany and Switzerland. It generally supports its clients to adapt their information concepts to the needs of target groups and to improve their impact.

Christoph Spurk has been in practical journalism with business news media in Germany for more than ten years. From 1997 onwards he worked as a free-lance media consultant for development cooperation projects in East Africa, in 2000 he returned to Europe and founded his company in Berne.

E-Mail: spurk@bluewin.ch

Table of Contents

1		Introduction	1			
	1.	Objectives of report	1			
	1.2	2 Definitions	1			
	1.3	3 Justification of media intervention	2			
	1.4	4 Clarifications	2			
2		Concepts of Media Assistance in Peacebuilding	4			
	2.	Improving the coverage of conflicts in Western media	4			
	2.2	2 Assisting media in conflict regions	5			
3		Approaches and Activities of Media Assistance in Peacebuilding	7			
	3.	Short- and medium term assistance	7			
	3.2	2 Long-term assistance	12			
	3.3	Coherence between short- and medium term, and long-term media assistance	14			
4		Contentious Issues	15			
	4.	Roles of journalists	15			
	4.2	2 Impact of media assistance on peacebuilding	17			
5		Actors and Activities	19			
	5.	Donors	19			
	5.2	2 Implementing agencies	31			
6		Trends and Challenges for Media in Peacebuilding	35			
	6.	Recent trends	35			
	6.2	2 Challenges	36			
7		Recommendations	39			
8		Annex	43			
9		Bibliography	45			
1(0 Websites of institutions and organizations					
1 1		List of Illustrations	EO			

1 Introduction

1.1 Objectives of report

While recognizing the destructive role media have played in many conflicts, clearly seen in Rwanda and the former Yugoslavia, and holding in mind the potential of free and independent media for fostering democracy, international organizations and NGOs have concluded that media have a crucial role to play in peacebuilding.

Starting in the nineties, this has led to major media interventions in conflict-prone or transitional regions (Africa, Balkans and Central Asia). Many actors were involved — from international organizations and bilateral donors, to local and specialized media NGOs — with a broad spectrum of activities — ranging from training to provision of equipment, from launching media regulation initiatives to enhancing professional associations, from supporting individual media to transforming former state radios into public service broadcasters.

The interest for media's role and its impact on peacebuilding is rising. Against this background, the government of Switzerland is reflecting on how media can become a core theme in its peacebuilding efforts.

Therefore, this report summarizes the basic concepts of media and peacebuilding. It focuses on media assistance in conflict regions, mainly in a short- to a medium-term perspective. It aims to:

- present a clear picture on the concepts,
- provide an overview of the strategies applied by different actors,
- highlight the actual trends and future challenges.

1.2 Definitions

Media: will refer to all types of print media such as newspapers and magazines as well as electronic media (including radio and TV programmes). This definition will exclude theatre, school and other educational institutions.

Journalism: covers all activities conducted by journalists, reporters and editors. It is not limited to "news" journalism or "news agency" journalism; it includes all types and formats of reporting (larger stories, analysis, background features, comments, opinions), editing (selection of news, controlling), and designing programmes (formats, series, supplements).

Peacebuilding: is seen in the strict sense, used by peace research, "The overall aim of peacebuilding is to prevent violent outbreaks of conflicts or to transform violent conflicts in a sustainable manner into peaceful means." The specific aims vary according to the different phases, i.e. pre-conflict, open conflict or post-conflict situations.

Media and Peacebuilding: this report will deal mainly with *media in the socio-political sphere* — especially in the pre-, ongoing or post-conflict phase — not with media in development sectors such as health, agriculture, HIV campaigning or rural radios. However, the long-term perspective of media assistance, for example supporting *good governance*, is included, as it plays a role for strategy and project design in the different conflict phases.

Swice

¹ Paffenholz, Thania 2002. *Community-based Bottom-up Peacebuilding,* The Life and Peace Institute's Horn of Africa Program's Approach to Peacebuilding, Lessons from Somalia, Uppsala, Sweden (forthcoming)

1.3 Justification of media intervention

The Balkan and African atrocities in the 1990s have encouraged a growing consensus that preventing hate speech, ethnic cleansing and genocide activities are justifications for external intervention. However, the legal questions around *international humanitarian intervention* with coercive power remain a complicated and heavily discussed issue. ² As this report will focus on media actors and activities these legal considerations will not be addressed further.

In contrast, for media intervention, the commonly acknowledged justification is, "to promote the fulfilment of Article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights." Article 19 states, "Everyone has the right to the freedom of opinion and expression; this right includes freedom to hold opinions without interference and to seek, receive and impart information and ideas through any media and regardless of frontiers." Although mainly referred to as *journalists' or editors' rights*, whose freedom is restricted in many countries, Article 19, nevertheless, must also be read as the *recipients' right* to "receive" information.

Against this background, various NGOs stress that access to information is a human right and not a privilege.⁴ This "recipients' right" would not only apply to humanitarian crisis, when information to the affected population becomes equally essential as food, water or shelter, but also to any under-developed situation with poor media environment and infrastructure.

For peacebuilding activities, there might be other justifications; the use of media as a tool for peacebuilding might be based on additional grounds as the ones mentioned. According to the relationship between the respective countries, the activities of external actors or externally funded assistance in the field of media and peacebuilding may be based on contracts of cooperation between governments or on international mandates in the context of peace operations.

In a similar light, media assistance in development cooperation is based on intergovernmental contracts. Many donors see "free and pluralistic media" as an important precondition for democracy and good governance. It is therefore incorporated as a condition for, and as part of, development cooperation.

1.4 Clarifications

Diversity of activities

There is a wide variety of actors, including all major donors, international broadcasters and specialized media NGOs, all of whom employ and initiate different approaches and programmes. This kaleidoscope of actors and activities results in a challenge to form a coherent picture. In many countries, the picture becomes further agitated as media projects are run by different organizations and quite often there is no clearing established between their activities. Regarding only the media projects of governments, they are frequently run by different departments or under different programmes. For example, the funding of a

² For details: see Price, Monroe & Thompson, Mark 2002. Forging Peace, Edinburgh, Uk

³ UNESCO 2000a. *Recommendations for Future Actions – Round table on Media in Conflict and Post Conflict Areas,* Geneva, Switzerland, page 14, Recommendation no.1; Geneva 2000

⁴ See Media Action International 2002. In a Humanitarian Emergency, No News is Bad News, concept papers, Geneva, Switzerland

journalist training might be supported under the title of "good governance" (within development cooperation), from a special programme for "freedom of expression" or "human rights" of the foreign ministry, or be funded by the "conflict prevention" programme of an NGO funded by another department of the same ministry.

Media activities can also take the form of objectives, for example the establishment of a free and independent media, and classified as a by-activity aiming at other objectives (anti-corruption, strengthening civil society and reviving traditional mediation mechanisms). Therefore, not all the projects with a media component are classified as media projects⁵.

Nevertheless, various generalizations can be made about the wide range of activities in the field. They usually comprise one or more of the following areas:

- training (for journalists: professional and issue-based, as well as for media managers),
- media production (news, reports),
- production of specialized programmes (soaps and series),
- · support for individual media,
- support for establishing a conducive legal framework (laws, media regulation),
- · technical assistance for equipment (printing facilities and transmitters),
- · transforming state broadcasters into public service broadcasters,
- promoting coordination and networks among media outlets,
- promoting professional associations,
- security training for journalists,
- legal defence,
- support for audience response systems and media monitoring.

Areas of attention

As a first step for clarification, this report makes a distinction between different areas of attention; it is useful to distinguish between the coverage of conflicts by the Western media and coverage by the media in the conflict region itself. Regarding the latter, it is beneficial to separate the short- and medium term phase from the long-term phase.

Chapter 2 will describe the concepts resulting from the difference between Western media and media in conflict regions, chapter 3 will be addressed to the approaches and activities of media in conflict regions according to the different timeframes.

Swiss

⁵ This explains partly the difficulties to get detailed information from donors on their "media" projects and its funding, see Chapter 5.

2 Concepts of Media Assistance in Peacebuilding

According to these areas of attention, there are different concepts of media assistance to peacebuilding.

Illustration 1: Areas of Attention in Media and Peacebuilding

Media in conflict regions	Media in conflict regions	Reporting of conflicts in Western Media
Û	Û	
Short- and medium-term approach	Long term approach	

© Spurk 2002

2.1 Improving the coverage of conflicts in Western media

The coverage of conflicts by Western media has an indirect link to peacebuilding as it is a main source of information and opinion building for Western societies, their NGOs and governments. The media have a heavy influence upon the perception of conflicts and thus the ability and readiness to support for peacebuilding initiatives.

The reporting of all phases of violent conflicts by Western media has often been criticized as at least inappropriate — if not completely wrong. It has been seen as creating or conveying false images. This is mostly attributed to a lack of professional practice in reporting conflict, which can be seen in the hordes of inexperienced reporters that are sent to crisis regions with hardly any background knowledge. It is also marked as a usual shortcoming, that Western media only broadcast superficial day-to-day factual news without any strive to highlight background factors or analysing the root causes of the conflict, thus often repeating traditional images and ethnic prejudices of the people involved. Furthermore, the selection of news by Western media focuses on the explosive events of catastrophes and conflict — not on the long slow changes of reconstruction. Good news, such as the progress on reconstruction in post conflict zones, must compete and is often drowned by any catastrophe which might come up during the day.⁶

Further discussions are required in order to judge if these failures result from individual faults, for example a lack of appropriate training for journalists, or whether they stem from deeper systematic shortcomings of commercial and public service media and their programmes, for example conceding less space and airtime for serious political programmes, or ignorance and misinterpretation of the consumers' will.

Some NGOs, political foundations or professional media associations try to open a public debate on the issue of war reporting in Western media. Other initiatives aim at direct

SWice sace

⁶ This point has been raised by, among others, Martin Bell, former BBC correspondent, in his critique to the BBC World Service. Martin Bell has proposed "journalism of attachment" as an alternative to the usual war reporting.

improvements. To counter the mere factual reporting and to improve coverage and understanding of conflict issues in the Western world, some organizations and foundations have set up special services. For example, the Panos Institute, or the Institute for War and Peace Reporting (IWPR), both based in London, have established large networks of trained correspondents in many countries. These networks enable then to offer in-depth analysis of conflicts as well as supporting large coverage. Thus, they are in competition with reporters of the international news agencies or special correspondents of other media, who also try to concentrate on substantial background reporting.

2.2 Assisting media in conflict regions

The media within conflict regions have attracted the attention of donors and NGOs because they have been manipulated to fuel or incite conflicts by broadcasting hate speech and partisan reporting. This study will focus on how the internal media can be assisted to move towards a positive influence on peace and conflict.

General goals and assistance

In general, the role of media for peacebuilding is twofold:

- 1. Professional media by their mere existence can execute a positive influence towards peacebuilding through:
 - · providing non-partisan news and reports,
 - informing about different opinions and views (including the views of the "others"),
 - contributing to knowledge (mechanism, people, causes) about politics, local issues and conflictive issues.
 - · building well-informed and unbiased opinion,
 - enabling people to take care of and decide on their own issues.
- 2. Professional media are able to contribute additionally towards peacebuilding by addressing issues concerning peace and conflict. This supports
 - improving knowledge of people in peace and conflict relevant issues such as elections, causes of conflict, inter-ethnic understanding, discrimination, truth commissions and war crimes,
 - providing incentives for changing behaviour or attitudes,
 - countering false images or propaganda from biased media,
 - enabling societies to deal with the past and build a common future.

This second role requires the trust of the people in the respective media. Otherwise, it is in danger to be interpreted as poor propaganda and will be either ignored or discredited.

Assistance according to time perspectives

As the usual context of media in peace and conflict is a country or society in violent conflict (latent, ongoing or shortly after the cessation of violence), the role of the media can work along two timeframes: a short- and medium-term perspective, or a long-term perspective. The former refers to initiatives between a few weeks and up to three years, while the latter applies to development sector projects that normally run longer than two or three years.

^{wiss}ace

In Switzerland, the press bureau "Infosud", Bern and Lausanne, covers particularly issues of developing countries and development cooperation and offers them to Swiss media for publishing.

⁸ To my knowledge, there is no systematic evaluation of the differences in quality of reporting by these agencies.

However, there is no exact boundary and a zone of overlapping between these time perspectives.

In the *short-* and *medium-term perspective*, the role of professional media is mainly to provide non-partisan news, report and analyze context of the conflict and its background factors, gather different views and opinions, focus on specialised peace and conflict issues and prepare the ground for a sound media sector development in the long run.

In the *long-term perspective*, the general role of media in democracies comes into focus. This is to establish a sector that provides a free flow of information ensuring that citizens have the opportunity to make responsible informed choices about their future, as well as to provide a watchdog function.

The detailed role media can play in peacebuilding must be determined by the particular conflict setting and the characteristics of the media sector in this society (weak or authoritarian states, different conflict lines, dominance of root or proximate conflict causes, fragmented societies, media control by government or political parties). Under this general umbrella, various activities evolve through different phases. The next section will discuss these phases and activities.

3 Approaches and Activities of Media Assistance in Peacebuilding

This section will outline the main activities of media assistance based on various project documents and concept papers. It will aim to provide and review a spectrum of activities and not to produce a list that could be blanketly applied to all situations. The choice of specific activities must be governed by the specific context within which the programme will be applied. This must be determined by a thorough needs analysis and hardcore planning.

3.1 Short- and medium term assistance

3.1.1 Objectives

From the short- and medium-term perspective, media assistance should aim to support peacebuilding activities by:

- providing non-partisan information and balanced news,
- ensuring conditions for receiving and imparting information,
- preventing the incitement of conflict through hate messages,
- · assisting victims and refugees,
- creating a platform for all people to voice opinions,
- laying the ground to develop structures for a free and independent media.

The short- and medium perspective is the point where the strict media and peacebuilding focus starts. As a guiding notion, all media activities should be embedded within the overall strategy of peacebuilding, which targets at the root and proximate causes of violence.

According to the conflict phase, it is possible to see different needs and detect a variety of possible roles for the media.⁹

3.1.2 Phases of violent conflict and activities

The short- and medium-term approach applies to three conflict phases: pre-conflict, open conflict and post-conflict. Some of the activities described below are general and can occur at all stages of conflict, but in different intensity, some are unique to each phase. In the following section, these activities will be nevertheless listed in total according to phases. This comprehensive picture will allow the appropriate activities for the specific conflict setting to be chosen.

Swissace

⁹ The differentiation of conflict phases has been inspired by DfID (Department for International Development) 2000a. *Working with the Media in Conflicts and Other Emergencies*, London, UK

Intensity of conflict Latent Phase Open Conflict Post conflict Development Phase

Illustration 2: Phases According to Intensity of Conflict 10

Pre-conflict phase (latent)

In a pre-conflict setting (characterized by tensions between rival factions, unrest, weak state and press censorship), most actors agree that the need for greater access to impartial information and human rights information is crucial. Some actors further believe that it is paramount to raise awareness of conflict resolution or transformation mechanisms such as a dialogue processes between the government and the people or re-establishing communication between rival factions. If these needs are met — activities might be very restricted due to the status of the conflict – it might contribute to reducing the intensification of the conflict and prevent violent outbreaks. Media intervention in this phase could provide:

1. Research and assessment

Existing news and information sources should be analysed and research efforts directed towards the information needs of the people in conflict areas. Moreover, existing media laws should be reviewed as well as the situation of professional associations.

2. Access to non-partisan news

Support is especially needed to provide, or to strengthen, balanced news programming as well as to specialized programming with a focus on human rights, causes of conflict or aimed at promoting mutual understanding, communication and tolerance.

3. Media monitoring

In this phase, it might be helpful to establish media monitoring that looks especially at hate messages or other forms of biased reporting and review possible counter measures.

4. Training

Training in all aspects (journalism, media research, media law and monitoring) is seen as a support to all these activities.

Open conflict phase

In an open conflict situation, the needs and interventions vary according to the intensity of violence and level of conflict. In acute phases (open violence, forced migration, destruction of homes, food insecurity, deterioration, high media regulation), the need for humanitarian information for the vulnerable groups (refugees, IDP) is of the highest priority such as information concerning where and how to get access to shelter, food, water, camps and

swiee peace

This figure simplifies reality for conceptual purposes and analytical clarity. In conflict settings, the phases might overlap, oscillate or be much longer than shown here.

medicine. As a result, it is crucial to secure information channels by the provision of radios and the investment of transmitters. The need for balanced reporting, i.e. non-partisan and accurate news, is paramount and, concerning violence inciting messages, might include active hindering or jamming of the broadcasts. In phases of low intensity of violence in the open phase, there might be some additional room for more intense reporting on news stories or peace and conflict orientated programming, for example at the community or local level. This specialized programming includes a variety of different themes, for example support for covering background information on the causes of conflict or examples of traditional reconciliation, and problems of inter-ethnic understanding.

Media intervention in this phase should:

- Continue activities of latent phase
 - The activities of the latent phase, such as the research of news and information needs, the media monitoring and the initial support for balanced news, should be continued where possible and appropriate.
- 2. Attempt to establish non-partisan news and humanitarian information Support to local or international media should be provided for dissemination of balanced news and humanitarian information.
- 3. Provide equipment
 - It might be necessary to provide equipment (transmitters, production facilities, radios etc.) as a pre-condition for broadcasting, producing and/or receiving information.
- 4. Training
 - If conditions allow, training in objective reporting, humanitarian reporting and conflictorientated programming should be intensified.
- 5. Hinder misuse
 - Where possible, the hindering or even suppression of the misuse of mass communication for conflict inciting programmes might be appropriate.¹¹
- 6. Support media production Support for media production to specialize in peace and conflict-orientated programmes on print media, radio and TV.

Post-conflict (or transition phase)

In a post-conflict setting, characterized by implementing peace accords, reconstruction, expanding infrastructure and civil society, relaxing regulation of media, there is the same overall need as in the phase of open conflict. However, the activities can be strongly intensified and focused. As there is a cessation of open violence, there are more opportunities, for example: to systematically establish local media capacity, put higher emphasis on training in conflict areas, support to strengthen the media environment, and build both media pluralism and regulatory framework.

¹¹ This form of "information intervention" is a contentious issue as it intervenes with freedom of expression issues. It includes various activities from the bombardment of transmitters over jamming techniques to other tools that external actors can use to force authoritarian states to stop transmitting hate messages. The question of legal justification for this kind of information intervention (as part of "humanitarian intervention") and the implications for international efforts in management of media sector in post-conflict countries is largely addressed at in see Price, Monroe & Thompson, Mark 2002. Forging Peace, Edinburgh, UK. This book reviews major media intervention efforts mostly by UN missions in Cambodia, Croatia, Bosnia and Kosovo to extract lessons learnt.

In addition to the measures already implemented in the open-conflict phase, the main types of assistance in this post-conflict phase might include:

- 1. Intensifying support to provision of humanitarian information This might comprise the provision of radios, the setting up of transmitters and temporary radio production as well as support to news and other programmes about health, food, activities of relief organizations and humanitarian law.
- 2. Intensifying support to non-partisan news services and independent reporting After the termination of violent conflict, support for non-partisan news services is of high priority. This may take various forms; many prefer to give support to local media, for example with the provision of equipment to start or re-establish production after conflict, or to extend coverage and enhance quality of production. The exchange between local media actors also needs support. If local media cannot fully do this, it might be necessary to fund international broadcasters to bring or to extend news to particular regions.
- 3. Intensifying training Training plays a major role, especially for the development of local media capacity. It covers training in non-partisan reporting, awareness of international law, in humanitarian programming and initial media management.
- 4. Targeted peacebuilding initiatives Specialized programmes and productions can be a useful tool to counter misconceptions, build confidence (radio forums), promoting dialogue (radio drama), facilitate communication (call in listeners), and propose options and solutions to the conflict (report series). Soap operas encouraging inter-ethnic understanding, cross-border communication, and conflict resolution are special tools that are the task of special drama writers than journalists.¹² Training may cover conflictive or contentious issues; there is a wide range of themes, such as elections, constitutional review, land ownership, implementation of peace accord, poverty, inter-ethnic understanding, corruption, minorities and truth commissions.
- 5. Starting efforts for a free and independent media sector This comprises support for regulatory frameworks, to initiate support in building associations or establishing a community media development strategy.

The following table summarizes the phasing of these possible activities.

¹² Their product might be checked by journalists on language, content, design and course of the story to ensure both interest of the audience, entertainment, information quality and validity of editorial guidelines of the respective medium, on which the drama is broadcasted. This will have an influence if this programme is seen as useful or as propaganda.

Illustration 3: Needs and Activities of Media Assistance in Different Conflict Phases

Latent c	Latent conflict		Open conflict		Post-Conflict	
Needs	Intervention	Needs	Intervention	Needs	Intervention	
Access to non-partisan and accurate information	Support dis- semination of balanced news programmes via local or trans- national media	As in latent phase plus	As in latent phase plus (if possible)	As in open conflict plus	As in open conflict plus	
	Analysis of existing news and sources, research of information needs of people in conflict areas	Targeted info on health, food, shelter, mines, NGO activities	Disseminating Humanitarian information			
Access to background information and analysis	Training in professional reporting		Provision of radios, broadcasting equipment	Full access to non-partisan and accurate information	Intense support of balanced news program- mes; hindering misuse of media for inciting conflict	
Dialogue between government and people; Communica- tion between rival factions	Support programming aimed at public dialogue	Peacebuilding at community level	Support of peace and conflict issues programming; raining in conict reporting	Development of local media capacity	Support to build local media pluralism	
Human rights based information Awareness	Support programming aimed at con- flictive issues (tolerance, justice, poverty)		Intense Media monitoring		Support to development of a new media environment and regulatory framework	
Support to local media	Research on media laws, associations			Consolidation of Peace- building strategies	Emphasis on training in pea- ce and conflict issues; Wider Support for pro- gramming in conflictive issues	
Prevention of violent conflict	Media monitoring				Establishing Media monitoring	

The table should be considered as a menu of options. What is appropriate to the situation on the ground and what should/can be realized, should be decided by a proper analysis of the:

- conflict setting,
- media situation,
- "fitting" of media activities into the overall strategy for peacebuilding,
- actual needs of the population in the media sector.

Criteria for suspension

From a donor's perspective, there should be some hard criteria in place to decide under which circumstances or conditions media activities are definitely excluded from the menu of options for external assistance. To my own knowledge, only a few donors have developed these criteria. DfID for example identifies that support to media is best avoided, where the government is restricting the freedom of the media to operate.¹³ Supporting purely government-controlled media would give additional legitimacy to them, thus hindering the long run development of civil society and independent media sector.

3.2 Long-term assistance

3.2.1 Objectives

The long-term perspective of media assistance applies to the development situation, which starts sometime after the post-conflict phase, when intensity of conflict has come down to levels which allow for reconstruction and continuous development efforts. Since support for strengthening democracies has become a core activity of almost all "development" efforts¹⁴, objectives for media in the long-term have been defined and mostly agreed upon. These are:

- free flow of information ensures that citizens make responsible, informed choices rather than acting out of ignorance or misinformation,
- information serves a "checking or watchdog function" by ensuring that elected representatives do their job according to democratic rules.

In this ideal view, free, pluralistic and independent media are an intermediate result that serves the final objective of a fully functioning and fledged democracy with a "politically active civil society". Thus media, once directed or overtly controlled by state or government, should become a diverse, open sector that provides different views and has a degree of editorial independence that serves the public interest. The goal is to have a range of various credible voices and a sector that promotes such outlets.

- local broadcasters proper legal access to frequency band,
- journalists and the public access to legislative debates,
- other parties access to the media,
- journalist the scope to report freely,
- or form independent associations.
- the media and journalists equitable allocations of material resources (licences, frequencies, newsprint capacity, paper supply, scholarships.
- DfID 2000b. The Media in Governance, A Guide to Assistance, London, UK, page 8

¹⁴ See DfID (Department for International Development) 2001. Making Government Work for Poor People, London, UK; EU Cotonou agreement; USAID 1999. Center for Democracy and Governance, The Role of Media in Democracy: A Strategic Approach, Washington, USA



¹³ It recommends not to embark on media assistance, when government is restricting the freedom of the media, for example by denving

This long-term approach can be applied either as a continuation of the media assistance in post-conflict phase or as media assistance within development cooperation in countries where no former violent conflict has taken place.

3.2.2 Approaches or areas of activities

There are five areas of media activities in the long-term perspective. Some country programmes undertake a combination of all five areas thereby ensuring a mix of activities with higher probability of having an impact. For political or other restrictions it is also possible to work only in one or two of the following areas with optimism of impact.

- Shaping and improving the legal enabling environment
 This approach comprises two elements: first, dealing with the laws and regulations for
 the media sector, second, other legal restrictions which affect the sensitive issues as the
 freedom of expression. This option deals with free access to information, government
 control, licensing procedures for electronic media, media—government relations,
 regulatory bodies, Codes of Practice, complaints, anti-monopoly-regulations, laws
 regarding libel, slander, contempt and copyright.
- 2. Strengthening the media sector and its environment This approach aims to promote a working media environment. This is characterized by not only effective media law, but also the existence of media watchdogs, research institutes, think-tanks, advocacy organizations and professional associations, press councils and networks. This includes all efforts to establish common effective training facilities, open to the whole media sector.
- 3. Removing barriers to access and other obstacles

 Access for information is one of the first requirements for a participative democracy.

 However, there are many more barriers than legal obstacles. Economic barriers create weak distribution channels, especially outside urban areas; consequently, it is a valid aim to support more efficient distribution systems. Decentralization of media might be appropriate to reach a wider audience community radios can be an alternative source of information. Additionally, all measures for improving the economic viability of media further eases access. Improvement of regulations in the advertising market or the enhancement of advertising by for example media monitoring comes into attention.
- 4. Supporting individual media to be more effective This option aims at enabling individual media institutions to provide better output and to become increasingly economically viable. The objective is to promote good quality media output which is relevant and useful to the audience and which allows the expression of a full range of opinions on matters of public concern. This requires well-trained managers as well as professional journalists aware of the needs of their audiences. This area includes support for individual media to clarify their strategies, for choosing the appropriate infrastructure and equipment, providing skills and management training, implementation of audience research systems. Further supporting this, all forms of individual training will contribute largely to the aim of this area.
- 5. Reform of public service media
 The reform of state broadcasters into public service media can be seen as an area in its
 own right or as a combination of the efforts within reform laws (area 1) and supporting
 individual media (area 4).

This long-term approach is clearly aiming at establishing media as a pillar for a functioning democracy. By fulfilling this goal, it will contribute to peacebuilding in itself. However, it should be borne in mind, that free, independent and pluralistic media must remain an ongoing objective that will be a struggle of every day – even in the countries with developed democracies, the ethics of journalism are in danger or they cost money and need to be defended against market forces, pure commercial interests and political intentions. 15

Only a few specialized peacebuilding elements are necessary within this long-term perspective – for example media monitoring, especially in the case of suspicion that the country enters a new "latent" phase. Generally, a fully developed media system should be sufficiently equipped to inform its audience about the contentious issues to be addressed.

3.3 Coherence between short- and medium term, and long-term media assistance

Media intervention in short- and medium term phase, especially in the post-conflict phase, has a direct link to the long-term media assistance, which normally runs under "good governance" or "strengthening democracy". Therefore, activities in short-term media assistance to peacebuilding must be coherent with the long-term objectives as the postconflict phase prepares the ground for an efficient media system. For example, the shortterm decisions in legal questions (media law, media regulations) must hold in mind the long-term goal of media pluralism as well as of an economically viable sector.

There might be contradictions between these short- and long-term goals if, for example, there is only one critical voice opposing the government in the actual post-conflict phase. In this situation, it would be better to support one opposition media outlet rather than none at all. However, caution should be exercised in order to prevent a monopoly that is artificially sustained by donor funds. In the case of a former state monopoly accessing major sources of funds for its transformation into a public-service broadcaster, measures must be undertaken with the view that other private media will not be suffocated. Furthermore, the new publicservice broadcaster needs to be prevented from being taken over by old or new political factions. Concerns similar to this may have convinced some donors to avoid funding single media outlets and to increase investment for media sector support.

According to Mark Thompson, researcher on the media situation and intervention in the Balkans, media freedom in many instances cannot be fully installed in one package. 16 In particular situations, content regulation (prevention of incendiary propaganda, zerotolerance to hate speech) must be in the short-term much stricter than in a normal, democratic society. In his view, it also needs careful consideration, whether media should be completely liberalized and left to the market economy in the post-conflict phase or if there should be a set of public institutions.

Again, it depends on the concrete conflict analysis and the assessment of the media situation in the respective country what to do to ensure coherence between the short- and long-term activities.

15 see the examples André Loersch mentions in his workshop contributions, like the reaction of US media after September 11th. ¹⁶ For details, see Mark Thompson's contribution in the Report of the Media Workshop in Berne, www.swisspeace.ch/KOFF

4 Contentious Issues

As media assistance for peacebuilding is a new field, many issues require further discussion to be clarified. In the following section, two issues will be highlighted for further consideration: the roles of journalists for peacebuilding and the measurement of the impact of media assistance to peacebuilding. Other issues will be addressed in section 6 under "challenges".

4.1 Roles of journalists

In many activities of media assistance for peacebuilding, journalists play a major role. They are involved in providing or receiving training, conducting enquiries, writing news, analysis and background stories or participating in the design of programmes.

There is a common consensus that the "products" of journalists, especially in media assistance within short-term peacebuilding, are generally:

- news and other forms of reports,
- analysis and background information,
- specialized products in peace and conflict issues, such as:
 - · print series about elections, or constitutional review,
 - · programmes on dealing with the past and war crimes,
 - reports on causes of conflicts (poverty, land distribution, corruption),
 - practical questions like de-mining or de-militarization.

In practice, there is an ongoing discussion if conventional professional journalism can contribute sufficiently to fulfil the above-mentioned tasks, especially in violent conflict settings, or if it requires alternative roles and approaches. There are mainly two contradictory points of view: professional journalism versus alternative forms of journalism.

Professional Journalism

According to received understanding, the role of professional journalists is to:

- provide non-partisan information,
- support opinion building,
- gather different views and opinions,
- provide background information and in-depth analysis.

By increasing the overall knowledge of the consumers, it will enhance them to make decisions about their issues. This should contribute to change their attitudes towards open debates on contentious issues and, consequently, support transforming conflicts into a non-violent tackling of issues.

According to the supporters of professional journalism, this role as outlined above is highly efficient, if fully realized. It should be kept as it is and not be weakened by other commitments than to be "neutral" or "non-partisan" in the sense of gathering the views of all sides, if possible, thus enabling the audience to build their own point of view.¹⁷

It must be seen, and this has been previously mentioned, that this is an ideal concept – more a kind of a promise than a reality. It is a continuous challenge for journalists; they

¹⁷ According to the Principles on Conduct of Journalists by the International Federation of Journalists they are committed to respect for truth, right of the public to truth, accountability, not suppressing essential information etc., www.ifj.org

must fulfil it every day. Sometimes, they do; other times, they do not. Therefore, this concept cannot be seen as a status that has been reached, it is more a process that should be followed daily.

Alternative Journalism

The above-described role of professional journalists has been criticized by researchers¹⁸ as well as former professional journalists.¹⁹ According to the critics, it fails in war and conflict situations because of:

- · keeping the myth of objectivity,
- maintaining the attitude of not taking sides,
- being neutral in a conflict situation,
- reporting just factual news on the waging of war,
- avoiding to raise the causes of war,
- · omitting insights of the victims of war,
- lacking responsibility for the outcome of its reporting.

As an alternative, it is recommended to modify journalism into an approach which the founders call "peace journalism", characterized by its orientation to an intended outcome. Journalists of this type are supposed to report on the background of conflicts, have the perspective of the vulnerable groups, seek "stories which maximize the chance for peacebuilding", and get out "messages crafted to foster peaceful resolution of conflict". Finally, journalism will be "intended outcome programming" designed for transforming attitudes, promoting reconciliation, putting the conflicting sides together for resolution.

Others claim additional roles for journalists, namely as facilitators in conflict resolution. They maintain a duty for journalists to use their potential for mediation between conflicting parties.²¹

Discussion

There is no doubt that the supporters of *peace journalism* and *journalism of attachment* have some valid points in their critique of the coverage conflicts by Western media, especially regarding the selection of news (bad news versus good news), the limitation of space and airtime for background reporting or the sometimes poor and superficial factual reporting. However, the stance as a whole remains somewhat dubious²² and guestionable.²³

Ross Howard, Institute for Media, Policy an Civil Society (IMPACS), Vancouver, Canada; it is also partly reflected in contributions in Hieber, Loretta (ed.) 2001. *Lifeline Media: Reaching populations in crisis, A Guide to Developing Media Projects in Conflict Situations*, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 129-134

¹⁹ Martin Bell, former BBC correspondent, claimed that journalists in war zones cannot be neutral bystanders. He is the founder of the "Journalism of Attachment".

²⁰ Howard, Ross 2001. "Media and Peacebuilding: Mapping the Possibilities", in: Activate, Winter 2001, Page 12-13, Vancouver, Canada

²¹ Baumann, Melissa & Siebert, Hannes 2001. "Journalists as Mediators" in: Paffenholz, Thania & Reychler, Luc (eds.) 2001. Peacebuilding – A Field Guide, London, UK and New York, USA pp. 319 – 321

For example, "objectivity" is not longer seen as a myth in conventional journalism. Every desk editor knows that selecting news is far from being objective. It might be done to best knowledge, professional standards or editorial guidelines, but it remains to be subjective. However, in many Western media the term "objective" is kept as a synonym for striving at providing non-partisan news and taking all sides into consideration.

According to Rudi van Meurs, journalism trainer from the Netherlands, many tasks of journalists like conflict analysis, background information, stimulating inter-ethnic relations etc. are automatically served by good journalism, quoted in the minutes of the Seminar "Role of Media in Peacebuilding", page 14, The Hague, February 2002

In short, both stances acknowledge the shortcomings of the practice of professional journalism but differ in how they can be addressed. For professional journalism, these shortcomings are only the "usual" differences between the ideal and reality. This gap should be closed by adapting practice closer to the concept. For alternative journalism, the shortcomings are failures immanent to the system that cannot be cured unless a new form of journalism is adopted – for example outcome oriented peace journalism. Nevertheless, it needs to be clarified if the proclaimed "alternative" forms of journalism can maintain and uphold their claims.

For this discussion, the argument should be kept in mind that journalists intending to have a particular outcome are generally in danger to jeopardize their credibility, at least insofar as their hidden agenda could prevent them from doing their job, which is providing the full range of essential information to the public. Credibility seems to be essential, not only for journalists but also for short-term media assistance in peacebuilding in particular, as well as for the coherence between short-term and long-term perspective.

From my personal point of view, desired outcome should belong more to the tasks of NGOs or other civil society organizations. Journalists generally should not become involved, besides their contribution to specialized formats like radio drama or educational soap operas which have a clear orientation and sometimes openly declared desired outcome. For credibility, these formats require a check on style and bias, as the audience normally regards the broadcasting on any media as a support for the content.

The supposed additional journalists' roles as mediators are also questionable. Again, from my personal point of view, they do fit neither with the capacities of journalists nor with their role. These tasks should remain with specialists such as diplomats or specialized NGOs. Journalists are free to report on these activities, but should not be directly involved.

4.2 Impact of media assistance on peacebuilding

Contrary to the intensity of the debate on the role of journalist, there is hardly any discussion on the effects or impact of media interventions on the peacebuilding process and conflict.

Models of impact

Currently, a very simple model of media's impact is *implicitly* applied in the sector of media in peace and conflict: a stimulus (message, news) causes an immediate direct effect (hate, violence, understanding). However, it is common knowledge of media research that this simple stimulus-response model does not work sufficiently to predict the results of campaigns/messages or to explain effects of daily media consumption.²⁴ Taking into consideration the individual reactions and choices of consumers, more complex models are currently used to deepen knowledge about media's impact. However, they are up to now rarely applied to the field of media in peace and conflict, which might be even more difficult as there are different cultural settings and values. Only some programmes are supported by social research for example soap operas work with a more complex model. Soap operas create various positive role models for the viewers.

However, media project design is frequently conducted on the grounds of the "reverse" assumption alone: the opposite to what is assumed to have worked for inciting hate and



²⁴ Heinz Bonfadelli – Medienwirkungsforschung I, Grundlagen und Perspektiven, Konstanz 1999

conflict is supposed to work in the same way - only with the opposite/positive impact- to foster reconciliation or peace. However, this is at least questionable. Attitude and behaviour changes, such as a move towards greater tolerance or inter-ethnic understanding, would appear to be more difficult to achieve than spreading a hate message, which in a particular situation might immediately provoke violent acts.²⁵ It is still not well known, what is required for a sustainable contribution to peacebuilding via media. It seems therefore appropriate to conduct and encourage more research on the whole question of impact (chains and attribution, indicators and measurement) in order to improve design and implementation of media assistance in this field.²⁶

Various NGOs have already begun investing more research on these questions, for example the recent programme evaluations by Search for Common Ground in Liberia (1999) and in Burundi (1999-2001). The question of impact²⁷ was addressed by audience surveys and interviews with key informants. The report confirms an overall impact on peacebuilding, saying that "Studio Ijambo [a major radio programme in Burundi] has contributed to creating a new vocabulary of peaceful coexistence, dialogue and negotiation in the country". However, the report does not provide indicators for measurement and data on the extent of this impact.

Limited and adverse effects

It is necessary to be aware of the limited effects of media. In pre- or post-conflict settings, media are not able to change the underlying causes of conflict. The uneven distribution of land, jobs and income might be, for example, an issue of intense reporting, but cannot be altered by the media, only by other means. Nevertheless, media can create adverse effects. Intense reporting can provoke revenge or inciting a new outbreak of violence. This needs careful consideration by editors, broadcasters and donors. Support to media therefore needs to be integrated into a coherent peacebuilding strategy.

²⁵ Moreover, even this view might be over simplified as outlined in the Workshop by André Loersch citing a study on the genocide in Rwanda. See report on Media Workshop.

The KOFF (Center for Peacebuilding)-workshop "Media and Peacebuilding", held in Berne at 25 June 2002, stressed the need to develop tools for monitoring outcome and measuring impact of media activities, even if it seems to be more difficult than in other areas, see KOFF 2002 "Media Workshop Report".

²⁷ Abdalla, Amr 2002. Independent Programme Evaluation – Search for Common Ground in Burundi 1999-2001, Washington D.C., USA

5 Actors and Activities

This section will provide an overview and description of the main activities of selected major actors involved in the field of media and peacebuilding. It will not provide an evaluation of their activities but rather draw attention to who is doing what. Where possible, the various budget lines will be indicated.²⁸ This section is based upon interviews, project documents and public information.

It would have afforded more time for research to address important questions such as the conceptual differences between various donors and to determine the factors for differentiation.²⁹ To conduct such a research, it is necessary to undertake a review that clarifies which projects contain media elements, considers their underlying assumptions and hypotheses on impact chains, assesses results and draws conclusions on best practices.

5.1 Donors

5.1.1 Governmental donors

United Kingdom – Department for International Development (DfID)

The United Kingdom is one of the few donors that places strong emphasis on media development. DflD sees media as a core activity in the field of good governance, and its "Conflict and Humanitarian Affairs" department is trying to develop the subject of media and peacebuilding. For both issues, DflD has produced two leading documents.³⁰

DfID has participated in many of the well-known projects in media and peacebuilding such as:

- Talking Drums Studio in Liberia (news and soap opera radio production), with Search for Common Ground (SfCG),
- Nashe Maalo in Macedonia (TV series, soap opera style) also with SfCG,
- Soul City in South Africa (TV, radio and print) support for independent media,
- BBC Great Lakes Lifeline Service providing impartial news,
- BBC World Service Radio New Home, new Life in Afghanistan,
- Operation SPEAR Albania, Macedonia, Kosovo provision of humanitarian Information with Media Action International.

A look into the current project list shows that DfID is engaged in a wide range of countries from Sierra Leone to Bangladesh, implementing and funding a broad variety of activities.

- training,
- launching radio stations impartial news,
- equipment for setting or upgrading stations,
- support for or the transformation into public service broadcasters (Kosovo RTK),
- · funding Schools of Journalism, press houses,

²⁸ All figures will appear in Euro based on the conversation rates at the time of editing (September 2002)

For example: are there common approaches in media assistance to peacebuilding of countries like Sweden, the Netherlands or Denmark, which have focused quite early in their development cooperation to good governance and human rights? Are there major differences between an US approach and an European approach, regarding the preference for private or public service media? Do the US favor strict campaigning and the Europeans do not?

³⁰ DfID (Department for International Development) 2000a. Working with the Media in Conflicts and Other Emergencies, London, UK

- regulatory institutions concerned with media law (licensing),
- special programming towards peace and conflict issues.

Their approach cannot be strictly divided into peace and conflict-related projects and projects for long-term media assistance. An approximate calculation of the total project budget can be placed at £22.5m. (€36.0m.). However, it is not indicated for how many years.

Denmark - FRESTA Programme and DANIDA

Denmark has also a focus on media. The Danish Foreign Ministry has launched the Danish Programme for Peace and Stability (FRESTA). It clearly sees regional collaboration as its key priority. Its fundamental idea is to build civil society networks across national or ethnic boarders. In these networks, people will cooperate because this cross-boundary collaboration is the approach to overcome misunderstandings and ethnically driven enemy images and stereotypes. Through these measures, it aims to promote conflict prevention and democratic development in four segments of civil society: human rights, media, youth and refugees.

At present, FRESTA concentrates on South Eastern Europe. In the period 1999 to 2003, €8.3m. were dedicated to media projects. FRESTA funds the Public Broadcasters Network, Network of Local Media Associations and the South East European Network for Professionalization of the Media (SEENPM; which is co-funded from the Swiss Development Cooperation (SDC)). The SEENPM is engaged in training (election reporting, media management, investigative journalism, reporting diversity, human rights) and the collaboration of regional media and press centres. Cross-cutting activities (refugee radio network, repatriation, human rights) complement the programme. FRESTA implements these programmes with other Danish institutions such as the Danish School of Journalism and the Baltic Media Centre (see below).

In development cooperation (DANIDA), Denmark stresses democratization and respect for human rights, and their links to peacebuilding: "Denmark's development policy will promote good governance and administrative practices free of corruption as an essential element in the creation of pro-poor growth and in fostering stable societies that possess effective mechanisms for peaceful resolution of conflicts." The development of a free press is considered as a means to achieve these objectives. However, media are not explicitly mentioned in the chapter of "preventing armed conflicts" of the same strategy.

DANIDA finances media projects in developing countries. An approximate estimation is €7.3m. for a ten year period in developing countries (from 1995 – 2004).32

³¹ Denmark's Development Policy- Strategy, October 2000, www.um.dk

³² I like to thank Hanne-Rie Madsen and Lotte Stattau from the Foreign Ministry for her assistance in compiling the data on

Switzerland

Switzerland's media assistance is funded mainly by the Swiss Development Cooperation (SDC), the development cooperation division of the Foreign Ministry, and by the political departments (PA IV) of the same ministry. As media are not a core activity of SDC in the Balkans, media are funded under "conflict prevention" as a main activity. The regional projects are within the framework of the Stability Pact (see below). 33

Regional projects in South Eastern Europe (SEE) are:

- SEENPM South East Europe Network for Professional Media supporting a network of media institutes
 - €220,000 (330,000 CHF) for 1.5 yrs
- AIM Alternativna Informativna Mreza a network of independent journalists in former
 - €67,000 (100,000 CHF) for 9 months
- Bridges for the New Balkans production of print, radio and TV series regarding conflictive and peace issues – with SfCG €1.0m. (1.5m. CHF) for 3 yrs

Bilateral projects³⁴ in SEE are:

- Training radio journalists— Albanian Media Institute €334,000 (500,000 CHF) in 2 yrs
- Support to Radio FERN in Bosnia with OSCE €260,000 (390,000 CHF) in 2 yrs
- Support to Radio Television Kosovo (RTK) €800,000 (1.2m. CHF) in 1 yr
- Support to independent media in FRY with Medienhilfe €133,000 (200,000 CHF) in 1 yr (funded by PAIV)
- Crisis assistance in Macedonia with Medienhilfe €400,000 (600,000 CHF) in 1 yr (co-funded:240,000 CHF from PAIV & 364,000 CHF from
- Improving programme quality in FRY €133,000 (200,000 CHF) in 2 yrs
- Soap opera production Nashe Maalo in Macedonia with SfCG €1.0m. (1.5m. CHF) in 3 yrs

Other areas:

- Altapress Russia with Media Development Fund €667,000 (1.0m. CHF) in 6 yrs
- Central Asia Media Project Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan €800,000 (1.2m. CHF) in 2 yrs
- Media Institute Caucasus with Cimera €173,000 (260,000 CHF) in 1 yr

³⁴ Education project with children (with SfCG) is said to be conflict-orientated, but not mentioned here, nor is the Children Theatre Project of Open Society in Macedonia.



³³ Data are those available in May 2002.

- Angola support to media production (SfCG)
 €133,000 (200,000 CHF) in 2 yr³⁵
- Angola support to Radio Ecclesia
 €350,000 (525,000 CHF) in 1.5 yr (from PAIV)
- Israel support to media rights organization
 €27,000 (40,000 CHF) in 1 yr (from PAIV)
- Radio Okapi Democratic Republic of Congo³⁶ UN / Fondation Hirondelle: max. €633,000 (950,000 CHF) in 1 yr³⁷ (co-funded: 600,000 CHF from PAIV and 350,000 CHF from SDC)

An approximate calculation³⁸ demonstrates that *Switzerland invests* €4.2m. (6.4m. CHF) in the current 1 year period for media assistance. Thereof €3.3m. (4.9m. CHF) comes from SDC, and the remaining €950,000 (1.4m. CHF) comes from PA IV. In comparison to other donor organizations or countries, this amount is already quite substantial for a small country like Switzerland.

Germany

Up to now, Germany's Ministry of Development Cooperation (BMZ) has no media focus, mainly because media projects have been outsourced. This is due to a strategic decision to omit "government sensitive" issues such as media from official development aid. These were undertaken by the political foundations, which are funded by the government, but still have more a non-governmental character. Due to financial restrictions, the foundations have reduced their engagement in media.

On the other hand, the Foreign Ministry has developed some major activities in media. Within the framework of the Stability Pact, Germany is funding 63 projects in South Eastern Europe with a volume of €3.4m. in 2002. There are many different implementing agencies, mostly German radio and TV producers. Activities range from training, provision of equipment, and programme cooperation to workshops and seminars. Officially, there is no special focus or concept for these media initiatives besides "support for development of democracy".

New initiatives will be launched in Afghanistan (€1.1m.) and for the European-Islamic dialogue (€2.3m.). This adds up to €6.7m. (10.1m. CHF) in 2002 for media projects in conflict-related regions.

US Government - USAID

The US Government is funding media activities generally through its Agency for International Development (USAID). Large funding for long-term transition, including media assistance, has been channelled through their regional offices. For conflict-regions, there is the Office for Transition Initiatives (OTI), which belongs to the USAID Bureau for Democracy,

³⁵ It was estimated that 20 to 25 per cent of the total funding of €600,000 (900,000 CHF) in 2 years was dedicated to media

³⁶ Co-funding with DfID, total budget for first year: €1.8m. (2.8m. CHF).

³⁷ PAIV financial contribution is comprised by a fund of €233,000 (350,000 CHF) in 1 year plus the costs for experts from Swiss Expert Pool, which might be send and cost €166,000 (250,000 CHF). DEZA has committed €600,000 (900,000 CHF) for 3 years, disbursement will be handled flexible.

³⁸ All figures on funding over larger periods were divided by the years to obtain an annual figure, these annual figures were added.

Conflict and Humanitarian Assistance.³⁹ The OTI mission is to assist local partners advance peace and democracy in conflict-prone countries, by providing fast, flexible short-term assistance targeted at key transition needs. The strategy paper "OTI Guide to programme Options in Conflict Prone Settings" of September 2001, outlines major activities:

- expanding democratic political processes (election, civil society, good governance),
- building citizen security (police reform, mine awareness, military),
- promoting reconciliation (human rights processes, conflict management),
- supporting peace negotiations (advisors, peace initiatives).

In this setting, media play a major cross-cutting role in all stages of a conflict - before, during and post-conflict. The media have a two-fold approach:

- classical news journalism provides neutral factual information, multiple viewpoints, opinions, thus encouraging people to decide on their own, and keeps the watchdog function to government
- *campaigning* for peace or other important messages of public interest (election, anticorruption)

OTI recommends gaining local media professionals who are willing to work with USAID and to fund broad-scale national media campaigns to accelerate democratic transition.

Here is one major difference in protocol to that of other donors. To my knowledge, no other donor provides explicitly strict guidelines what kind of messages should be transferred to the audience and always claims visibility as a priority. Other donors, for example Sweden and the Netherlands, rely upon the local media to find their own way on how to reach their audience and what kind of "messages" fit with the cultural setting.

OTI's country programmes in Croatia, Serbia and Montenegro, Indonesia, East Timor and Kosovo included large media components, for example voter campaign in Croatia, voter education in Indonesia, independent alternative media in Bosnia, Serbia and Montenegro, including provision of technical equipment. In Liberia, OTI was co-funding Star Radio and Talking Drums Studio; in Rwanda, it focuses on giving information on the proceedings of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda. In Angola, OTI funded Voice of America radio programming.

OTI is currently funding activities in Afghanistan (\in 16.5m. in 2002) , East Timor (\in 10.0m.), Indonesia (\in 4.0m.), Burundi (\in 2.0m.), Democratic Republic of Congo (\in 4.0m.), Zimbabwe (\in 3.0m.), Macedonia (\in 7.0m.), Serbia and Montenegro (\in 10.0m.) and Peru (\in 7.0m.). There is no breakdown of which proportion of these funds were dedicated to media assistance. In former years, OTI has heavily funded the Balkans.

In other countries (not covered by the OTI programme, due to conflict status), assistance to independent media is given by the USAID regional or country offices. For example, strengthening independent media is held as a priority in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan and Uzbekistan.

Another institution, involved with media assistance is the Centre for Democracy and Governance, which belongs to the USAID — Bureau for Global Programmes. It has a supporting role in designing and implementing democracy strategies. In 1999, it has

3



³⁹ Price/Noll/de Luce 2002 (Mapping Media Assistance) clarifies the structure of USAID and states that another substantial reordering of USAID is taking place which will be finalized during 2002, page 6.

⁴⁰ Evaluation of the Balkan programmes was conducted; the results will be presented in the annex of this report.

elaborated a Strategy Paper, "The Role of Media in Democracy: A Strategic Approach", recently is has co-financed the study, "The Enabling Environment for Free and Independent Media" and is working with the World Bank to broaden donor interest in media assistance.⁴¹

Sweden

Sweden was one of the first countries to give culture (of which media is a part) a special position in governmental development cooperation. In the nineties, Swedish support to media has expanded. Already in 1995, the Swedish Development Agency (SIDA) had published a strategy for their media assistance.⁴² It recommends a strong focus on protecting freedom of speech by supporting the reform of legislation, contributing to research, making freedom of action possible for journalists and the media, and supporting networks between journalists.⁴³ Media support is seen as an integral part for the promotion of democracy and human rights. The specific goals are "to support the development of journalism in order to ensure that the general public has access to information and the social debate."

It is stated clearly that media activities are crucial for good governance. For this objective, SIDA aims to:

- stimulate the growth and vitality of media that are characterized by pluralism, and
- promote the growth and vitality of individual media.

It therefore supports:

- media organizations which work for freedom of speech,
- local media which contribute to diversity and pluralism and which extend popular influence,
- the education of journalists,
- public service activities with a focus on the radio and film media.

SIDA's contribution to media assistance in general has been *approximately* \notin 9.3m. (87.0m. SEK) in 2001.⁴⁴ This figure includes media activities from the Eastern Europe Department and from the Department of Democracy and Human Rights. Sweden supports organizations like the Panos Institute, International Freedom of Expression eXchange (IFEX) and Article 19. A regional focus is the Balkans. A total of \notin 5.4m. are budgeted for media activities in the Balkans over a two year period (2001 – 2002). This figure includes the funds for the Swedish Helsinki Committee.

To some extent only, media projects were started to be seen as contributing to peacebuilding, as SIDA supports some organizations with explicit conflict-related projects (Panos Institute in West Africa, media training in Sierra Leone with IFEX and Canadian Journalists for Free Expression CJFE). For example, the projects with the Institute for War and Peace Reporting (IWPR, *see below*) are listed under a "conflict management perspective". These media projects add up to €2.0m. and are classified according to the status of the conflict and to the type of intervention in the conflict.

⁴¹ Mapping Media Assistance, page 7

⁴² SIDA 1995. *Freedom of* Expression, Stockholm, Sweden

⁴³ SIDA 2000. Policy for SIDA's Development Cooperation in the Field of Culture, Stockholm, Sweden

⁴⁴ SIDA (Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency) 2002. Facts and Figures 2001 Culture and Media, Stockholm, Sweden p.3

Netherlands

The Foreign Ministry of the Netherlands has also stressed the role of good governance and democracy in their development assistance programmes. Civil society must be allowed to develop. Government must tolerate, if not foster, an enabling environment as part of good governance. Freedom of association is seen as a clear condition. No less important, however, is access to sufficient, independent resources, and channels of communication, unrestricted information, scope for negotiation and independent bodies to settle disputes. In this manner, freedom of expression and development of free and independent media play a vital role.

The Dutch government has given media activities a high ranking position on the agenda for good governance and has fostered many media initiatives. The "Memorandum on the Promotion of Platforms for Independent Broadcasting in Africa", published in March 2002 can be seen as an example for its strategy:

On the one hand, it demonstrates a less restrictive (European?) style of approach, which states, "Dutch policy on communication and development is geared to strengthening ownership and demand orientation. This means that the media organizations in developing countries take responsibility for themselves for programme identification, management and execution. Within the framework of the agreed policy, the actors involved set priorities..." While on the other, it states that the Dutch policy acknowledges and understands the importance of independent media as well as wanting to support the media structure.

The Memorandum states that the Dutch government intends to continue its support for African media initiatives with a new emphasis on strengthening national and regional media platforms. This decision means that the Dutch government will focus its support not on stimulating a single platform but on the development of multiple networks which could ultimately result in an African platform.

Their focus can also been deduced from the Memorandum's list of the major problems of media in Africa:

- no responsible media policy,
- restrictive legislation upon the media,
- lack of converting state media into independent broadcasters,
- · poor quality of media.

The main points of Dutch media policy in Africa are:

- creating media platforms for consultation between government, public and private media.
- supporting press councils, observatories, regulatory bodies,
- promoting a free media culture,

The Ministry sees a growing role that media can play in contributing to peacebuilding and the prevention of renewed conflict. As the specific role of the media is often less known and not always transparent, the Netherlands has recently convened a conference on the role of the media in conflict prevention and peacebuilding.⁴⁶ This focused on a discussion about

⁴⁵ Memorandum on the Promotion of Platforms for Independent Broadcasting in Africa, Ministry of Foreign Affairs Netherlands 2002. Memorandum on the Promotion of Platforms for Independent Broadcasting in Africa, on: www.minbuza.nl

⁴⁶ Netherlands Association of Journalists 2002. The Role of the Media in Conflict Prevention and Peace Building, report of a seminar, The Hague, Netherlands

"Peace Journalism" and the proposal to have worldwide Media Monitoring with the focus on Early Warning in order to detect and to prevent similar cases like Rwanda.

Dutch funds to media assistance have been substantive, although they can only be estimated. In 1995, Dutch media assistance through NGO and bilateral channels has already amounted to €13.0m. (28.0m. hfl.)⁴⁷ In 2001, assistance for media in Africa was around €7.0m., 48 according to the Ministry roughly the same amount was given to the Balkans. As the rest of the regions has received only small amounts in media projects, total media assistance is estimated at €15.0m. in 2001 49.

5.1.2 Multilateral donors

European Union

Conflict-related media projects of the European Union (EU) are funded under the programme "European Initiative for Democracy and Human Rights" (EIDHR). Programming and conceptualisation for EIDHR are supervised under the EC's Directorate General for External Relations. Appraisal, implementing, and monitoring of projects is conducted by EuropeAid – a unit for implementing assistance programmes.

EIDHR has several budget lines; the most important segments are "promotion and protection of human rights" (€20.0m. in 2001), "support for democratization" (€19.4m.) and "prevention of conflict and dealing with the consequences of conflict" (€5.9m.). A special budget line covers the "rehabilitation centres for the victims of torture" inside and outside the EU (€12.0m.). Additionally, there are urgent projects identified by the EC for specific objectives. These "targeted" projects amounted to €36.0m. in 2001.

Media projects fall under various segments, mostly "support for democratization and protection of human rights". Major projects with a strong media component under EIDHR are:

- promotion of independent, free and responsible media in Southern Africa, with Media Institute for Southern Africa (MISA), Namibia, €780,000 for 3 yrs
- promoting independent journalism, training and capacity building in the Southern Mediterranean Region (Tunisia, Morocco Palestine, Lebanon, Jordan, Algeria, Egypt) with International Federation of Journalists (IFJ), Brussels €840.000 for 2.5 vrs
- global programme of prize competitions to promote Excellence in Media Reporting of Actions to combat racism and discrimination – 5 regions (South Asia, South East Asia, Africa, Latin America) €670,000 for 2 yrs
- freedom of expression and of information in ASEAN region (base-line study, pending legislation, training, advocacy campaign with Article 19) €525,000 for 3 vrs
- using media to promote human rights in the Sierra Leone peace process with European Center for Common Ground €1.5m. for 3 vrs.

⁴⁷ I have to thank Michiel van Geelen, who studies mass communication at the University of Amsterdam, for this figure, which he had calculated from a report by Ank Linden: "Communication policies and human rights in third world countries".

⁴⁹ Acording to van Geelen this seems a good guess as it is a little bit higher than in 1995. No exact figures available.

- establishment of Children's Rights News Agency (ANDI) with ANDI, Brazil €2.0m. for 3 yrs.
- Information Documentation and Training Agency for the International Criminal court for Rwanda (publicizing activities of the ICT Rwanda within the area of Great Lakes), broadcasting, website, magazine with Fondation Hirondelle €590,000 for 1 yr

This reaches €6.9m. for conflict related projects with an explicit media component in 3 yrs.

For the period 2002 - 2004, EIDHR has identified 29 focus countries that should involve four thematic priorities:

- support to strengthen democratization, good governance,
- · abolition of death penalty,
- fight against torture, international tribunals,
- combat racism and discrimination against minorities.
- Focus 1 is the major source for funding of media projects.⁵⁰

World Bank

In the perspective of the World Bank, the media have just recently started to play a major role. This is due to their contribution to growth and the positive relation between free and independent media and World Bank goals such as market development and institutional change.⁵¹ The World Development Report 2002 stresses that competition between the media, access to public information and broadening the media's reach are essential. The Report compiles the newest data and derives recommendations how to ensure the framework conditions for developing an independent high quality media sector.

From a conflict perspective, the World Bank's efforts have been driven by the concept that reconstruction serves for conflict solving.⁵² The Bank's Conflict Prevention and Reconstruction Unit deals with projects of the Post-Conflict Fund. Various projects were given grants — from transitional support strategies to demilitarisation, employment for displaced women, rehabilitation of the health sector and community development. Out of a total of €35.0m. for the years from 1998 to 2002, the project list reveals only three media projects:

- Liberia: documentary on the conflict and its impact, with European Television
 €25.000
- Study on Media in conflict regions, with Media Action International €26.000
- Nigeria: Media and National Identity Formation, with Panos Institute €68 000

The figure of 0.34% of the total post-conflict budget illustrates that media projects play a minor role.

⁵⁰ Funding of media development in general is sometimes done through other programmes like TACIS for technical assistance to 13 countries in Eastern Europe or by MEDA the development programme in 12 Mediterranean states.

⁵¹ World Bank 2002. World Development Report 2002, The Media, chapter 10, page 181 – 193, Washington, USA p.181ff.

⁵² According to "World Bank Efforts in Bosnia – Conflict-solving through Reconstruction" (www.worldbank.org), the Bank develops a transitional support strategy for conflict regions, where priorities include strengthening of public institutions, demining operations and reintegration of refugees.

However, the World Bank Institute has conducted training⁵³ of over one thousand journalists during the last five years, and sponsored conferences. According to Dutch sources, there will be a common major effort by World Bank and UNDP to promote media and peacebuilding initiatives and develop indicators for them.

UNESCO

Media and communication belong to the core activities of United Nation Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). Besides its political initiatives,⁵⁴ UNESCO funds the development of independent and pluralistic media by a special programme; the International Programme for the Development of Communication (IPDC). Since 1980, more than nine hundred projects were funded, among others various news agencies, independent newspapers, community radio stations and multimedia centres, TV channels and public service broadcasters. Various training programmes were established as well as special approaches for women, youth media education and research.

IPDC is funded by voluntary contributions of UN members, and the special fund-in—trust to attract resources from countries that want to support domestic initiatives. It is reported that many donor countries are withdrawing from these multilateral projects. Therefore, funds for UNESCO are becoming scarce.⁵⁵ In 2001, IPDC had to declare a moratorium for already approved projects, the moratorium has been lifted recently in April 2002; the budget for 2001 was €2.4m. for projects and assistance secretariat. IPDC has decided on reforms of its working methods, adopting established priorities of IPDC, professionalizing approval, preparation of projects and improving transparency. A new procedure has been announced regarding evaluation of terminated projects by independent consultants. Additionally, UNESCO has created the "Information for all Programme" for funding ICT initiatives.

For peace and conflict related issues and conflict-prone regions, UNESCO has created "UNESCO SOS Media", a programme of emergency assistance to help in reconstruction, mainly by expanding access to non-partisan information and promoting diversity during and post-conflict. The programme started in 1992 in former Yugoslavia. After the 1995 Dayton Accords, UNESCO switched form emergency help to building infrastructure for media and long-term diversity, its emergency operations were then extended to Rwanda and Burundi, and in 1998 to Angola and Indonesia. These activities are wide ranging including: provision of equipment, training, and establishment of TV stations and radio production centres.⁵⁶

The total funds of UNESCO SOS Media is $\ensuremath{\in} 9.2m$. ($\ensuremath{\in} 490,000$ came from Switzerland). Numerous international organizations and NGOs have given their support to the UNESCO SOS Media programme.

UNESCO has also fostered cooperation and knowledge sharing among those concerned with media in conflict regions. The UNESCO Round Table on Media in conflict areas, held on the occasion of World Press Freedom Day 2000, in Geneva in May 2000 has given recommendations for future actions in this field.⁵⁷

⁵³ See further information in Mapping Media assistance, page 15. It also mentions the World Bank's involvement in advice and counselling on projects for the privatisation and transformation of state controlled media.

⁵⁴ Breunig, Christian 2000. 50 Jahre Kommunikationspolitik der UNESCO, in: Neue Medien und Öffentlichkeiten, Band 1, Hamburg, Germany

⁵⁵ In 1996, IPDC had only a budget for €2.3m. in comparison to projects for €8.0m., *see* Breunig, page 111

⁵⁶ UN Missions sometimes provide frameworks for the media to evolve, by drafting regulations on telecommunications and broadcast laws, licensing etc; see Mapping Media Assistance.

⁵⁷ Recommendations for Future Actions, UNESCO Geneva 2000, brochure

The list of recommendations refers to situations where the international community intervenes in a conflict or post-conflict situation. The list stresses the fulfilment of Article 19, clear priority to support the international community, independent local media, both private media or public service media, establishment of the rule of the law, consultation with NGOs, and coordination of donor efforts. It highlights that any entity set up by an Inter-Governmental Organization (IGO) should function *ab initio* as an independent public service broadcaster and that IGOs themselves should set an example in respect for the rule of law in their own actions. It recommends to work out a specific strategy for restructuring the media and to develop an agreed handbook with general principles and defining the main strategic choices that must be made in media assistance in conflict regions.

Stability Pact

The Stability Pact, founded in June 1999, is a political declaration of commitment and a framework agreement on international cooperation to develop a shared strategy for stability and growth in South East Europe. However, it is not an international organization nor does it have its own independent financial resources. In the Stability Pact, more than 40 partner countries (EU, G8, Norway and Switzerland, countries of SEE) and organizations (UN, OSCE, World Bank, IMF, regional initiatives) are committed to foster peace, conflict prevention, democracy and economic prosperity. The EU, including its member states, has a leading role and is the most important donor.

The Stability Pact acts in three Working Tables. Working Table No. 1 deals with Democratization and Human Rights and focuses on four priority areas:

- inter-ethnic dialogue and cross-border cooperation,
- refugee matters,
- media,
- education and youth.

As media is one priority area, a Media Task Force (MTF) was built — a collaborative effort of donors, NGOs and recipient countries. It adopted the Charter for Media Freedom and a Strategy for Media Assistance. By cooperating with media professionals and state authorities (within National Working Groups of seven SEE-countries), MTF works to provide assistance to the development of free, independent, professional and diverse media in SEE. Its activities are determined by the phases of conflict in context, which it has categorized into actual conflict, post-conflict, and rehabilitation phases.

Generally, the MTF has four main areas of activity:

- implementing the Charter of Media Freedom by cooperating with State Authorities,
- designing a comprehensive strategy for media assistance to ensure a common focus of donors,
- stimulating targeted support to media development,
- generating carefully selected projects.

In the first funding phase of Stability Pact (March 2000), 33 media projects were funded with €20.1m. to run over long-term periods. For the period 2001-2004, a new Strategy for Media Assistance has been adopted. It summarizes problems, objectives and areas of action very concisely.

Strategy

It states that the major problems facing the media in SEE are: political influence, economic dependence, lack of sound journalism training, weak professional structures and an unfinished legislative framework.

The document identifies principle objectives:

- a legislative framework,
- relevant institutions are solid, independent and indispensable,
- raised journalistic professionalism,
- balanced coverage of ethnic and religious minorities,
- survival of private media with proven track record and continuation of their work,
- long-term consistent assistance for initiatives that will benefit the media as a whole.

Areas of action are:

- laws and regulation,
- transformation of state to public media,
- support to private and independent media (conditional),
- regional cooperation,
- professionalism (training, universities, institutes, job contracts),
- minorities,
- content (quality),
- archives.

The Strategy Paper and the Action Plans for Bosnia-Herzegovina, Serbia and Croatia contain a thorough analysis of the political situation as well as of the media sector, assess achievements, formulate priorities, detect obstacles and give recommendation for future action.

As the Stability Pact has no independent financial resources, all programmes will realize that some donors have already cut or are in the process of withdrawing funds from SEE. This will result in less support, especially from donors like USAID, the World Bank, and Soros Foundation. Not all the media that have been supported, will receive further help. Therefore, there is a process of identifying the quality media that deserve continued support. Much more scrutiny will be placed on projects and on assessing feasibility and viability of individual media.

Council of Europe

The Council of Europe, one of the first European institutions, founded in 1949, is an intergovernmental organization of more than forty countries, working in the area of human rights, culture and social development. Under its Directorate for Human Rights, a Media Division was established. It deals mostly with: legislative reform, implementing laws and training (freedom of expression).

In the nineties, the Council has focused its assistance to its priority areas SEE, CIS (Russia, Ukraine, Belarus) and the South Caucasus.⁵⁸ Its programmes are implemented with governments or NGOs.

⁵⁸ Further details of its work, authority and political influence are outlined in Mapping Media Assistance.

5.1.3 Foundations

Political foundations play a major role in media assistance.⁵⁹ In Europe, the Open Society Foundation is one of the most important.

Open Society Foundation (Soros)

The Open Society Institutes (OSI) of the Soros Network Foundation has provided aid to independent media in many post-communist countries. Overall sums of their commitment in the media sector are not available, but it is clear that large sums have been spent. In Russia, for example, €5.0m. were dedicated to media, only in 2000. It is acknowledged that its continuous support for independent radio stations such as Radio B92 in Belgrade and other initiatives has contributed to the defeat of the authoritarian regimes in the Balkans.

However, it has been confirmed⁶⁰, as a result of the changing political environment, funding will be decreasing in the years to come. Assistance will not be given up, but focused. It is the aim to promote the media with proven record and to look for more coordination with other donors.

5.2 Implementing agencies

Media assistance is often implemented by the wide variety of specialized media international or national NGOs and professional associations. For reasons of space and time, the following section will consider only a highly subjective selection of them with special attention to Swiss-based NGOs.

5.2.1 International agencies and NGOs

Institute for War and Peace Reporting (IWPR)

The London-based IWPR, founded 1992, is specialized both in intensive reporting on conflict and humanitarian issues, and in journalist training. Through its emphasis on training, it transfers professional skills to countries in conflict and thereby raising the level of quality reporting. The news and reports are published nationally and internationally on the IWPR's website (allowing free downloads) and as a result, it provides Western media with an alternative source of obtaining reports on conflict regions. The training is very strict and focuses on guidelines for styles of writing and editing by international experts.

IWPR also monitors the media in conflict regions thus adding to the political debate. Over the years, it has extended the geographical reach from the Balkans to crisis zones in the former Soviet Union and Central Asia. Currently, it is undertaking projects in Afghanistan, the Balkans, Caucasus and Central Asia. A special focus is their permanent regular reporting on the proceedings of the International Criminal Tribunal for former Yugoslavia (ICTY).

The IWPR is staffed by around 20 personnel in London and a further 20 in various regional bureaus. One of the major donors is SIDA and cooperation partners include Media Action International in Afghanistan.

Mapping Media Assistance describes in detail the activities of various private and public foundations in the USA, like Freedom Forum, Markle Foundation, Rockefeller, Ford, MacArthur, Independent Journalism Federation Mapping Media Assistance, page 18

⁶⁰ By the Network Media Programme (NMP), a unit in OSI Budapest, which acts as a consultant and liaison for Sorossponsored media programmes.

Search for Common Ground (SfCG)

The US-based organization, founded 1982, and its European arm European Center for Common Ground, Brussels, is a conflict resolution NGO. Its "toolbox" has various parts that work with media and SfCG has become one of the leading producers of television and radio programmes for the reduction or prevention of violent conflict. Their work can be exemplified by:

- Studio Ijambo (Radio) in Burundi (with currently 25 news, documentary or cultural programmes),
- Nashe Maalo (children TV series) in Macedonia,
- Bridges for the New Balkans regional media in Macedonia, Bulgaria, Albania, Greece, Montenegro, Serbia and Kosovo.
- Talking Drums Studio (Liberia) radio production facility,
- Vozes que Falam conflict prevention radio soap opera, Angola.

Baltic Media Centre (BMC)

The Baltic Media Centre, founded in 1993, is an independent NGO that supports democratic development and promotes peaceful international cooperation through the active participation of the media. It is funded primarily through the Danish government. It provides training, consultancies and legal advice for radio, TV, production companies and print media. The regional focus has been expanded from the Baltic States to include Russia, South East Europe, Asia and Africa. Their focus is: institution building (associations, networks, transforming state into public broadcasters), raising professionalism (training), supporting media policy (democratic media policy, legislation) and programme cooperation (with all kinds of media, state, commercial, and grassroots). BMC participates in the FRESTA programme of Danish government and runs the "Good Morning Afghanistan" news service radio in Afghanistan funded by the EU.

Its budget for 2001 was €3.8m. The staff is comprised of 18 personnel in Denmark and 20 in the specific regions.

5.2.2 Swiss-based NGOs⁶¹

Media Action International (MAI)

Media Action International, based in Geneva, has evolved out of the International Centre for Humanitarian Reporting (ICHR) and specializes in setting up humanitarian information programmes in conflict- or disaster-prone regions and countries.

Media Action International highlights information as a fundamental human right for the recipients. It requires all organizations engaged in humanitarian operations to incorporate an information policy with the affected civilians in order to fulfil their obligation to communicate with the population they are assisting. MAI criticizes international agencies that are more interested in providing information to improve their profile and visibility rather than imparting information to the population.

swie eace

⁶¹ More detailed information on the Swiss-based NGOs can be found in the KOFF 2002 Media Workshop report.

⁶² Media Action International 2002. In a Humanitarian Emergency, No News is Bad News, concept papers, Geneva, Switzerland

MAI was one of the first NGOs bringing forward the idea of using media for development as well as for conflict prevention and peacebuilding.⁶³ MAI has worked intensively in Afghanistan (Radio Education for Afghan Children, with BBC), Kosovo, Albania, Macedonia (youth and humanitarian information programmes, SPEAR), Mozambique (flood victims) and Africa (Lifeline Media).

Medienhilfe

Medienhilfe, founded in 1992 in Zurich as "Medienhilfe Ex-Jugoslawien", is an NGO supporting independent media in the Balkans. These media are seen as important pillars in the fight against authoritarian regimes and as agents for democratic change and interethnic understanding. Medienhilfe has the concept that media should be more than news and information providers. Additionally they should be quasi-NGOs producing specific content, campaigning actively for tolerance and reconciliation. In their current programme, Medienhilfe supports minority media in Kosovo, and local and community media in Macedonia (training, networking, production in conflict prevention). Moreover, practical media monitoring is part of their work.⁶⁴ The Swiss NGO works with the Media Task Force of the Stability Pact and cooperates closely with the International Media Fund, a network that brings together other European media NGOs (Press Now, Netherlands; Norwegian People's Aid, Norway; IREX Pro Media, USA; Media Development Loan Fund, Prague; Swedish Helsinki Committee, Sweden; Open Society institutes in the Balkans).

Fondation Hirondelle

Fondation Hirondelle, Lausanne, is specialized in setting up radio programmes in regions of conflict and crisis. Its approach is to provide balanced information to a population in need. Balanced information is seen as a need and as a tool for enabling people to decide on their own issues and to calm tensions. This is to counter the propaganda instruments often used in conflict regions for inciting hatred, creating intolerance and manipulating people. Therefore, the core activity focuses on broadcasting neutral, non-partisan information and credible news.

Major projects have been/are:

- Star Radio Liberia (from 1997 onwards, closed by Liberian government in 2000),
- Radio Agatashya Zaire/Rwanda, refugee camps (since 1994, closed in 1996),
- Radio Blue Sky, Kosovo,
- Radio Ndeke Luka, Bangui,
- Radio Okapi, Democratic Republic of Congo (with UN), on air since February 2002,
- Hirondelle News Agency with International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda.

swiee peace

⁶³ MAI organized one of the early workshops on "media in regions of conflict", held in December 1998 in Cape Town, South Africa; see also Loretta Hieber (co-founder of Media Action): Lifeline Media: Reaching population in crisis, which gives a lot of examples of media projects in conflict situations.

⁶⁴ The book "Media and War" was co-edited by Medienhilfe's director Nena Skopljanac Brunner. It analyses the media's influence on the war, namely in constructing images of the others as enemies, the use of myths, the semantics of war and the presentation of reality by RTV Serbia.

Cimera

Cimera is a Geneva-based NGO, founded in 1999, working in Central Asia, the Caucasus region and the Balkans. The organization focuses on <u>ci</u>vil society, <u>me</u>dia development, <u>research</u> and <u>analysis</u>.

Cimera stresses that its strength lies in their unique combination of projects in media development, cooperation between journalists and politicians, support for civil society development and in-depth analysis and research of the socio-political changes. In their view, media often fail to be an organ for public information and debate in the Balkans and the post-soviet countries. Training and institutional development should raise professional standards and contribute to conflict prevention.

Central ongoing projects are:

- Central Asia Media Project,
- Caucasus Media Institute,
- Central Asia Research Network (Media in Kyrgyzstan),
- Media development in Georgia and Armenia.

Others

There are many other important implementers that could not be covered in this report, for example: IREX and Internews⁶⁵ or professional associations such as the International Federation of Journalists, the World Association of Newspapers (WAN), the European Centre for Journalists (ECJ), also media freedom NGOs, like Reporters Sans Frontiers, and Article 19.

^{swige}ace

⁶⁵Mapping Media Assistance, pages 25 onwards.

6 Trends and Challenges for Media in Peacebuilding

6.1 Recent trends

There are currently two main trends in the debate of media and peacebuilding: greater attention to media and a stricter examination of media assistance.

Greater attention to media in peacebuilding

First, the issue of media assistance in general and especially in conflict situations is receiving more attention. One sign is that the World Bank has included for the first time a special Media chapter in the World Development Report 2002, with the overall result that free and independent media have a positive effect on other development objectives such as growth and building of democratic institutions. Another sign is that various international conferences have taken place recently on the issue, one in Paris organized jointly by the World Bank and USAID on the "Global Media Assistance Strategies - role of media in economic and democratic development". Another conference was convened in The Hague, Netherlands, with the topic of "The Role of Media in Conflict Prevention and Peacebuilding". ⁶⁶ In the former conference, one of the three priority areas for discussion was dedicated to media in conflict situations. ⁶⁷

Additionally, various people interviewed for this report confirm that in their governments or organizations media assistance has gained in priority as a tool to influence peacebuilding.

Stricter examination of media assistance

Due to the difficulties in compiling reliable data on the volume of funding for media projects, it cannot be assessed if media assistance in general gets fewer funds or not. On one hand, it seems clear that the Balkans as a region will receive less funding. According to the statements made by interviewees the contributions for media support for this region will be reduced. This is due either to the more democratic development in the region which calls for greater self-reliance — at least this is the view of some donors — or due to donor fatigue with some media outlets. On the other hand, donor support is to be transferred to other geographical areas (Afghanistan, Central Asia) and, at the moment, the overall result on a global level is not clear.

This means that in the media sector of South Eastern Europe there will be more competition among projects, broadcasters and other media for less donor money. As donor support still is the major source of revenue, many newspapers, radio stations and media institutions will face difficulties. This calls for a stricter examination of media projects in order to select the ones for continuous support.

However, the pressure to review projects is not restricted to the Balkans. Based upon the interviews for this report, it can be concluded that this is an overall trend. Despite media in peace and conflict being a new and evolving field, donors are demanding a greater monitoring of outcomes, checking of results and examination of impact — as they do in other sectors of development cooperation.

These conferences recommended to create a Media Monitoring Task Force or Network which detects early signs of hate propaganda by local media systems in potentially troubled areas, see minutes of the conference, quote of Prof. C. Hamelink of University of Amsterdam, page 5

⁶⁷ A draft summary of the conference report on Global Media Assistance Strategies, is available at http://pcmlp.socleq.ox.ac.uk/mas/report

6.2 Challenges

Considering these recent trends, the media and peacebuilding sector faces the following challenges.

6.2.1 Evaluation and impact measurement

There is a need for quality evaluation of media assistance projects and their impacts, not only urged by the donors but also positively seen by implementers in order to improve ongoing and future media support. However, it is a challenge to conduct professional impact measurement of media projects due to the young state of the field.⁶⁸ Only little conceptual work on media's impact has been done, up to now only a few in-depth case studies and evaluations are available.⁶⁹

A review of those studies demonstrates that the sector requires more in-depth research and improved evaluation methodology. Many project reports simply describe quantitative results or outcomes (100 journalists trained, 40 programmes produced) and lack data on audience ("how many people have been reached?" or "how much the audience has increased?"), as well as qualitative indicators.

Need for research on impact measurement

It seems necessary to foster impact measurement in strategic projects. This will need more case studies and baseline surveys, as only a few existing projects have implemented activities, which make future impact measuring possible. As one USAID report mentions⁷⁰, baseline surveys *before the project starts* are an indispensable instrument to assess the project's impact. However, this requires additional funds for research and data collection. These efforts could be coordinated within the peacebuilding sector, which actually develops qualitative indicators for impact measurement⁷¹. As a first step, it seems useful to create indicators for "contribution to peacebuilding" that can be used in questionnaires and interviews.⁷² Donors are hopefully ready to spend additional funding and accept additional time for evaluation.

Lessons learned

Up to now, only a few efforts had been made to draw lessons from successful media assistance for peacebuilding. There is a need to compile already existing knowledge and to review good and bad practices of different donors and projects. One such review of media activities of inter-governmental organizations in peace operations has been recently published⁷³, including the debate and assessment on the legal justifications of both supporting and suppressing certain media activities in a particular conflict situation.

⁶⁸ This need was already highlighted in the first "Lifeline Media in Regions of Conflict" conference in Cape Town, December 1998; see Report issued by Media Action/former International Center for Humanitarian Reporting, calling for redefining usual evaluation by quality indicators.

 $^{^{\}rm 69}$ A list with summaries is presented in the annex.

⁷⁰ USAID Evaluation Bosnia, *see* annex

^{71 &}quot;Peace and Conflict Impact Assessment" (PCIA) is currently applied in many development projects in conflict regions, a debate on methodology is ongoing, see Gaigels/Leonhardt 2001, page 22

⁷² the contributions of Jean-Marie Etter and Michael Lund to the Media Workshop in Berne (see Workshop report) hold many initial stages to clarify the impact chain of media assistance and to form such indicators.

⁷³ Price, Monroe & Thompson, Mark 2002. *Forging Peace*, Edinburgh, UK

6.2.2 Clarification of concepts and approaches

Link to peacebuilding strategy

Often, projects aiming at contributing to peacebuilding require better link or orientation to the overall peacebuilding strategy. They are sometimes targeting only minor issues, not the core problems of the conflict (root and proximate causes). Therefore, a future necessity is to first identify the peacebuilding strategy and then to clarify how the media projects can fit into it.

As already mentioned, this needs thorough analysis of the media sector and its problems and opportunities. However, in reality these kind of feasibility studies "are often not conducted at all prior to the launch of a major project and little or no attempt is made by donor governments to conduct a systematic review of a country's media sector", states the Mapping Media Assistance report.⁷⁴

Role of Journalists

The actors in the Media and Peacebuilding sector need to *clarify the role they attribute to journalists*. As outlined, this holds consequences for project design in the short-term perspective as well as for the long-term orientation of the media sector. This is equally valid for any additional tasks journalists might or might not take over, for example mediation, facilitation or practical local peacebuilding.

Local and/or international media?

Most of the actors in the field of media in peace and conflict agree that supporting existing local media is the best way to get access to the population and to foster free and independent media. Nevertheless, if local media do not exist or have not been fully developed in a particular conflict setting, there is a need to identify the alternatives.

It can be useful to describe the conditions under which international broadcasters are a "second-best" solution for giving access to non-partisan information for a population in need. What kinds of factors favour the setting-up of new stations or media outlets, primarily funded by external assistance? Alternatively, can local and international media coexist in particular phases?

6.2.3 Improving design and implementation

Selection of partners

The *selection of the right partners* is a major challenge, especially in countries of conflict.

There are no general answers to the crucial questions: Which are the right media to support? Who has the potential of surviving in the long run without donor support? How to decide on partners in a different cultural setting with different models of the role of journalism? How to avoid relying on gatekeepers? It is paramount to have an open exchange on these questions among donors and NGOs to develop common procedures.

However, the analysis and inventory of the media sector, due before the initiation of every major media activity, should at least provide better insight into the local actors and thus help to clarify the larger picture of actors, their interests and goals. From this starting point, it should be easier to create some appropriate selection criteria.

Swies

⁷⁴ It mentions additionally, that these studies are sometimes written by NGOs with the vested interest in winning a development contract, page 36

Viability and sustainability

Commercial viability has become a priority for media, as donors aim for sustainability. Up to now, this challenge was met by including training for media business managers and improving marketing skills. This is not enough. Media assistance projects must be integrated, where appropriate, with other development cooperation efforts, like the support for economic recovery - that will hopefully create jobs for journalists and other media professionals which were for example trained through media assistance.

However, it still needs further debate on how far the requirement of commercial viability is indispensable against the background of usually weak economies in post-conflict situations, where media can hardly survive on advertisement revenues alone. Based on the results of this debate, it can be decided, how much subsidies or external institutionalized support is still needed by particular media programmes.

Do no harm

Nevertheless, media projects must be cautious to do no harm. An excessive presence of media NGOs can be counterproductive: Usually high NGO salaries can disrupt the local economy, attract journalists who are otherwise much needed by the local media, or can force promising journalists to leave every week for training in foreign countries.⁷⁵ Projects need to avoid this spoiling and hampering of the upcoming local media industry.

Ensuring quality

Media projects are delicate tools. Their results depend largely on how well activities are conducted (training, news broadcasting, soap production, orientation to the needs of the targeted audience). Their outcome and impact on peacebuilding depends upon quality of design, form and content. Therefore, the challenge lies in ensuring this quality. As a consequence, media projects need greater monitoring. This must review:

- quantitative data, when available (circulation, audience figures, increase or decrease of reach, advertisement revenues)
- training
- content
- audience response

Rudi van Meurs, quoted in Netherlands Association of Journalists 2002 (conference report "Role of Media in Peacebuilding and conflict prevention"), p. 14



7 Recommendations

Several recommendations and conclusions can be drawn from this study. The following section will focus on donors considering future media assistance for peacebuilding.

Overall conclusion

This study assumes and has illustrated that media have a two-fold potential for contributing to peacebuilding by:

1. Indirect activities:

Media, provided they fulfil basic professional and ethic criteria (non-partisan, balanced information, accountability, not government controlled, standard code of ethics), can contribute to peacebuilding – even without a specially designed peacebuilding element and only executing its "normal" role.

2. Direct activities:

Media with special peace and conflict-related programmes can additionally contribute to peacebuilding – provided the media in question have already gained some credibility and are not seen by the audience as an external propaganda machine.

However, there is still not enough knowledge about these two effects and it is not possible to quantify them. Sometimes, the contribution by indirect activities might be even stronger than by direct ones.

Preparation of media assistance for peacebuilding: ensuring accurate analysis

Keeping this two-fold approach in mind, donors planning to use media for peacebuilding efforts must conduct careful *preparation*, as much of the details concerning the programme design and implementation depend on the analysis of the two main issues in the specific country and context. These are:

- 1. The *analysis of the conflict* should yield in-depth findings about the: social and political environment, root and proximate causes of the conflict, and possible entry points for external peacebuilding intervention. The results of the conflict analysis will be the basis of the peacebuilding strategy of the donor.⁷⁶
- 2. The *analysis of the media sector* comprises the:
 - number and types of media outlets (content, circulation, political connection),
 - ownership structure and media concentration (who, affiliation, relations to programming),
 - characteristics of journalists (number, level of training, economic and working conditions, security, professional associations),
 - · technical resources, capacities,
 - legal framework (licenses, control of broadcasting and printing, freedom of expression status, protection of journalists, censorship),
 - · media financing and advertising market,
 - size and profile of audience, media consumption figures.

This second analysis should provide data of the whole media sector, its problems, shortcomings and opportunities. The results should be double-checked by other sources; these may be NGOs with field experience in the country in question or other resource persons.

SWice

⁷⁶ Additionally, it will give some insight about the role media play/have played in the conflict.

General decision concerning intervention

The media analysis will provide a first indication concerning whether media assistance is at all an appropriate tool for peacebuilding. For example, if the freedom of media in the country in question is very restricted – only one state broadcaster – it would be appropriate to avoid any assistance via media⁷⁷, and to switch to a stronger support for civil society, freedom of expression or human rights organizations.

Two exemptions from this rule might be: first, the humanitarian emergency case, where the set-up of an information service is necessary. Second, if it is possible in a post-conflict situation to set-up an independent broadcaster — and to create political pressure for media freedom and/or transition of state into public service stations.

In cases with more media freedom, media assistance seems to be more appropriate, especially to independent media and local media outlets.

Media development

If media assistance is considered favourably, the first need for the people in a conflict situation (*see* Illustration 3 on page 11 of this study) is an independent news service that broadcasts or imparts non-partisan information and is able to gain the credibility of the audience.

According to the situation in the country and under the objective of "free and pluralistic media are in itself a contribution to peacebuilding", it is either recommended to install or support such a news service or – if that is already working – to focus on other issues of the media sector (*see* Illustration 3 on page 11 as a menu of options) such as:

- · legal environment,
- professional associations,
- training,
- media management,
- support to individual media outlets.

Media producing specialised peace and conflict programmes

If the base of a free media structure is laid, specialised peace and conflict related programmes come into focus. The type of programmes that should be supported must be governed by the initial conflict analysis. The support for this type of programming can have various forms, from support to special media outlets to production subsidies or to support of their distribution by broadcasting these products on as many media outlets as possible.

However, special caution must be exercised as the support to these specialised programmes is delicate. It requires high-quality and very sensitive production and it must be borne in mind not to spoil the local media professionals in the long-run. To financially support particular coverage (war crimes, minorities, cross-boarder reporting) can become necessary, especially when there is an under-developed media market, but it should not produce disincentives to cover these issues under "normal" circumstances, i.e. when there is no extra funding.

As a rule, it is recommended not to rely on one single partner or media outlet. A donor should avoid becoming too close to one partner. Therefore, if possible, a mixture of

⁷⁷ DfID recommends not embarking on media assistance, when the government is restricting the freedom of the media, and specifies these conditions in detail, DfID (Department for International Development) 2000b. The Media in Governance, A Guide to Assistance, London, UK, p. 6

activities seems appropriate i.e. to support more than one media outlet and at the same time to support the media sector (media monitoring, association building and training institutions).

Cooperation with implementing agencies

It is recommended for donors to conduct the necessary conflict and media analysis before major decisions on projects are taken and to communicate them to the implementing agencies and other interested parties.

If these analyses are carried out with the support of, or are partly provided by, agencies submitting project proposals, they should be double-checked internally and/or by third parties, in order to get advice not only from the people involved but also from independent resource persons.

Assessment of projects

Project proposals in media and peacebuilding must be checked for:

- coherence with the overall peacebuilding strategy,
- consistency with peacebuilding activities in other fields,
- coherence with the long-term objectives of free and independent media, i.e. sustainability / viability, ensuring pluralism and establishing laws and regulation that prepare or already fit with the requirements of free and pluralistic media structure,
- matching with the needs of the media sector,
- fitting in well with the activities of other donors,
- reasons given for selection of partners (are there alternatives?).

In the *project implementation*, there is a need for quality control⁷⁸ and proper monitoring. Outcomes should be defined and monitored. Therefore, project proposals should provide outcome figures and hypotheses about the impact chain of the programmes on audience.

Evaluation and impact

Impact measurement is still a new field. Up to now, there are no generally approved tools. Therefore, it would be appropriate to launch an effort to develop such tools. Capacity should be built to gain detailed knowledge about the impact of media projects in peacebuilding.⁷⁹

This effort should commission case studies with already existing or new projects. It is recommended as a first step, strategically to identify various projects where baseline surveys and evaluation can be integrated, in order that lessons for future projects can be drawn.

In cooperation with selected projects this must:

- propose and develop *indicators* for impact measurement of media projects regarding peacebuilding,
- submit or hold *baseline surveys* before project start that focus on these indicators (quantitative and qualitative data along the knowledge, attitudes, practices scheme),
- plan and apply for funds for research on impact measurement in these selected projects,



⁷⁸ This is mainly to ensure high quality in training, unbiased reporting, excellent content and production etc.

⁷⁹ This could be conducted by a common effort of media or communication experts and resource persons of development cooperation and/or peacebuilding.

- extract lessons learned,
- participate in the *international debate* on media and peacebuilding.

Research

Many issues in the field of media and peacebuilding are still open, for example⁸⁰:

- viability of media in weak economies,
- content regulation in post-conflict situation,
- · elite-controlled media,
- media monitorino.
- monopolies in media,
- pluralism inside media or in media structure,
- journalistic ethics in practice worldwide.

These issues should be reviewed and priorities set. It should be further considered for future inter-disciplinary efforts with media research institutes and peace researchers.

^{swigg}eace

 $^{^{80}}$ Many of them have been also raised by the Media workshop, see report on www.swisspeace.ch

8 Annex

Summaries of a selection of evaluation reports

 USAID – Evaluation of the Professional Media Programme in Central and Eastern Europe, 1998. An evaluation of the initiatives in ten countries, implemented by IREX and Freedom House

The main results are:

- activities did not follow the agreed strategy,
- there was no systematic analysis of the situation in the respective countries,
- impact measurement wasn't possible, as there was neither systematic data collection nor a baseline study in the pre-project phase or indicators for impact,
- additionally, there were no comprehensive media assessments conducted, only fast appraisals.

The study finally recommends to put greater efforts on formulating a programmatic course between analysis and operational objectives, strengthens the business and viability focus of future projects and association building as a priority, and alternative to fund individual media outlets.

2. USAID/OTI Evaluation of Media Transition grants in Bosnia and Herzegovina, April 1999 by Maureen Taylor, Rutgers University

The evaluation was compiled from survey questionnaires with the public, focus group discussions with specifically targeted groups to gain an insight on the impact. The major findings are mixed.⁸¹

- Alternative media in Bosnia had a positive impact. Objective information was reported about the action and abuses of government officials, and offered the opportunity for independent political candidates to reach a large number of people.
- However, they lack credibility and public mistrust remains. The alternative media need to improve their standard of objectivity and fairness. There is widespread belief that alternative media are only the mouthpiece of international community.
- Many Bosnians are not ready for critical messages. It is difficult to transplant a free media system into a region that has only known state control of messages.
- Alternative media were unprofessional mainly due to a large number of young and inexperienced journalists. Many of the established journalists have worked for nationalist-orientated media outlets during the war.
- To reach large numbers of people, alternative TV stations as well as small radio stations in remote areas were found to be cost-effective.
- It criticizes the lack of data and failure to develop indicators.
- 3. Search for Common Ground: Lessons from Nashe Maalo

An examination of educational impact, lead by Dr. Najchevska, University of Skopje. The evaluation was conducted based on 240 interviews, held with children of four ethnic groups in Macedonia, and compared their attitudes "prior to viewing" and "after viewing". Macedonian children showed the greatest positive changes in perception of other ethnic groups.

Other references mention that the media activities in Bosnia were not successful as too many outlets were financed, the main audience did not listen to the internationally sponsored sources, DfID 2000a, p.50



Results:

- positive recognition of other ethnic groups increased by 20%,
- willingness to invite children from other ethnic groups into their homes increased from 20 to 30%,
- recognition of minority languages improved across all ethnic lines.
- 4. Studio Ijambo experience and impact, Media Intervention in Peacebuilding in Burundi, study by Management Systems International (MSI), Washington The study intended to measure the impact of the programmes of Studio Ijambo (a variety of neutral news and tolerance-orientated soap operas) for inter-group relations, social and political mobilization, and public institutions. However, the style of questions was hardly appropriate as the interviewers used very complex meta-questions in an unfamiliar cultural setting. For example, marketers and housewives were asked if they agree that Radio Ijambo "gives useful advice on ethnic tolerance and coexistence?" or "that it has helped revitalize civil society by urging its role in the peace process." 82

Results:

- · positive impact in reducing rumour,
- tolerance level is high,
- gives access for NGOs to media,
- radio must be innovative and provide entertainment. Difficult to report on conflict in African societies.
- 5. Search for Common Ground Evaluation of Talking Drums studio Liberia, 1999

 This study was compiled from a survey based on: the listening patterns and station preference of the 400 interviewees. Some of the questions were impact-leading (same question-style as in MSI study, for example, "Do Talking Drum programmes make a useful contribution to post-war reconstruction?").
- 6. Fondation Hirondelle Star Radio Audience Survey, July 1999

 An audience study on: access to radio, listening patterns, station preference and a section on impact of Star Radio. It is both a comprehensive report of the status at that time, as well as a very useful quantitative data about listening patterns and programme preferences. The section on impact is restricted to compiling responses of listeners.
- 7. Independent Programme Evaluation Search for Common Ground in Burundi, April 2002. Amr Abdalla et al., George Mason University

 This self-evaluation was conducted with focus groups, audience surveys and interviews with key informants. The report yields interesting information on the response and scope of the programmes to particular groups. However, there are reservations regarding the style of questions. Concerning peacebuilding, it states an overall impact "Studio Ijambo has contributed to creating a new vocabulary of peaceful coexistence, dialogue and

negotiation in the country", which has been verified by interviews, but the extent or size

of this impact on peacebuilding could not be specified.

These questions are supposed not to reach ordinary poor people. It neglects all experience raised by social research in developing countries, i.e. precautions to take by asking questions, for example different use of language, tendency to please the researcher and so on. This might be even more difficult when it comes to attitudes or contentious issues. *See* Saxer, Ulrich & Grossenbacher, René 1987. *Medien und Entwicklungsprozess*, eine empirische Studie im westafrikanischen Benin, Köln, Germany

.

9 Bibliography

Books and articles

Abdalla, Amr 2002. Independent Programme Evaluation — Search for Common Ground in Burundi 1999-2001, Washington D.C., USA

Adam, Gordon/Harford, Nicola 1999. *Radio and HIV/AIDS: Making a Difference,* Geneva, Switzerland

AIM (Alternativna Informativna Mreza) 2001. A Network of Independent Journalists in former Yugoslavia and the southern Balkans, Programme of Activities 2002, Paris, France

Baumann, Melissa & Siebert, Hannes 2001. "Journalists as Mediators" in: Paffenholz, Thania & Reychler, Luc (eds.) 2001. *Peacebuilding – A Field Guide,* London, UK and New York, USA pp. 319 – 321

Becker, Jörg 2002. *Beitrag der Medien zur Krisenprävention und Konfliktbearbeitung,* working paper no.1, Sektorberatungsvorhaben Krisenprävention und Konfliktbearbeitung, Eschborn, Germany

Bell, Martin. *Journalism of Attachment,* Interview by Ben Ayers (Contemporary Media Practice)

Bonfadelli, Heinz 1999. Medienwirkungsforschung I, Grundlagen und Perspektiven, Konstanz, Germany

Breunig, Christian 2000. *50 Jahre Kommunikationspolitik der UNESCO,* in: Neue Medien und Öffentlichkeiten, Band 1, Hamburg, Germany

Cheterian, Vicken 2001. Medien und Demokratie in Armenien, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Crevoisier, Pierre 1995. Agatashya – Das Abenteuer eines Radios, Lausanne, Switzerland

Davis, Alan 2000. Georgia, Cambodia, Bosnia, South Africa - Regional Media in Conflict, Institute of War and Peace Reporting, London, UK

DEZA (Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation) 2002. Dokumentation über die Projekte der Technischen Zusammenarbeit mit den osteuropäischen Staaten und der GUS, Bern, Switzerland

DfID (Department for International Development) 2002. *Support for Media Development, Partial List of Projects,* Memo. London, UK

DfID (Department for International Development) 2001. *Making Government Work for Poor People,* London, UK

DfID (Department for International Development) 2000a. *Working with the Media in Conflicts and Other Emergencies,* London, UK

DfID (Department for International Development) 2000b. *The Media in Governance, A Guide to Assistance,* London, UK

EIDHR (European Initiative for Democracy and Human Rights) 2001. *Sectors and Projects* 2001, on: http://europa.eu.int/comm/europeaid/projects

Fondation Hirondelle 1999. Star Radio Project Audience Survey, Monrovia, Liberia

Gardner, Ellen 2001. "The Role of Media in Conflicts", in: Paffenholz, Thania & Reychler, Luc (eds.) 2001. *Peacebuilding – A Field Guide,* London, UK and New York, USA pp. 301 – 311

Gaigels, Cynthia/Leonhardt, Manuela 2001. *Conflict-Sensitive Approaches to Development, A Review of Practice,* London, UK, on: www.international-alert.org/publications.htm

Geelen, van, Michiel 2002. The Role of the Media in Conflict Prevention, Conflict Management and Peace Building, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Global Media Assistance Strategies 2002a. *Draft Summary of Conference Report* Paris, France, on: http://pcmlp.socleg.ox.ac.uk/mas/report

Global Media Assistance Strategies 2002b. *Minutes on the Workshop on the Role of Media in Economic and Democratic Development,* Paris, France, on:

http://pcmlp.socleg.ox.ac.uk/mas/report

Hagos, Asgede 2001. Media Intervention in Peace Building in Burundi – The Studio Ijambo Experience and Impact, Management Systems International, Washington, USA

Hay, Robin 1999. *The Media and Peacebuilding*, a discussion paper and draft operational framework, IMPACS, Vancouver, Canada

Hieber, Loretta (ed.) 2001. Lifeline Media: Reaching populations in crisis, A Guide to Developing Media Projects in Conflict Situations, Geneva, Switzerland

Hieber, Loretta 1998. "Media as Intervention", in: *Track Two*, Vol.7, no.4, p. 16 –20, Rondebosch, South Africa

Howard, Ross 2002. "The Role of the Media in Conflict Prevention and Peace Building" Keynote speech, in: *Netherlands Association of Journalists*, Report of seminar, The Hague, Netherlands, see also *Mediate the Conflict* on: www.rnw.nl/realradio/features

Howard, Ross 2001. "Media and Peacebuilding: Mapping the Possibilities", in: *Activate*, Winter 2001, Page 12-13, Vancouver, Canada

IMPACS (Institute for Media, Policy and Civil Society) 1999. *Media and Peacebuilding: Discussion Paper and Draft Operational Framework,* on:

www.impacs.org/media/peacebuilding

IPDC 2001. Intergovernmental Council of the International Programme for the Development of Communication, Final Report of 21st session, Paris, France,

KOFF (Kompetenzzentrum Friedensförderung) 2002. *Media Workshop Report,* Berne, on: www.swisspeace.ch

Loersch, André & Grigorian, Mark 2000. *Report on the media situation in Tajikistan*, on: www.cimera.org

Löffelholz, Martin 2002. *Krisenkommunikation: Die Forschung boomt,* in: *message,* no.1/2002, page 36 – 39

Lund, Michael 2002. Evaluating NGO Peacebuilding Initiatives in Africa: Getting Beyond Good Intentions and Cynicism, Washington, USA

Lynch, Jake 2000. *17 Tips: What a Peace Journalist Would Try to Do,* on: www.mediachannel.org

Media Action International 2002. *In a Humanitarian Emergency, No News is Bad News,* concept papers, Geneva, Switzerland

Media Action International 1999. *Strengthening Lifeline Media in Regions of Conflict,* Executive Summary of Conference, on www.mediaaction.org

Medienhilfe Ex-Jugoslawien 2001. *Mission Statement*, on: www.medienhilfe.ch

Ministry of Foreign Affairs Netherlands 2002. Memorandum on the Promotion of Platforms for Independent Broadcasting in Africa, on: www.minbuza.nl

Netherlands Association of Journalists 2002. *The Role of the Media in Conflict Prevention and Peace Building, r*eport of a seminar, The Hague, Netherlands

Palmer, Edward L. 1999. *The CGP Rapid Survey Method: A new survey tool for Broadcasters in War Zones,* on: www.scfg.org

Paffenholz, Thania 2002. *Community-based Bottom-up Peacebuilding,* The Life and Peace Institute's Horn of Africa Program's Approach to Peacebuilding, Lessons from Somalia, Uppsala, Sweden (forthcoming)

Paffenholz, Thania & Reychler, Luc (eds.) 2001. *Peacebuilding – A Field Guide,* London, UK and New York, USA

Peters, Bettina 2001. "Seeking Truth and Minimizing Harm", in: Paffenholz, Thania & Reychler, Luc (eds.) 2001. *Peacebuilding – A Field Guide,* London, UK and New York, USA pp. 312 – 318

Price, Monroe 2000. Restructuring the Media in Post-conflict Societies: Four Perspectives the Experience of intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, Oxford, United Kingdom, on: http://archiv.medienhilfe.ch/Reports

Price, Monroe & Krug, Peter 2000. *The Enabling Environment for Free and Independent Media,* Oxford, United Kingdom

Price, Monroe & Davis Noll, Bethany & de Luce, Daniel 2002. *Mapping Media Assistance,* draft Oxford, United Kingdom

Price, Monroe & Thompson, Mark 2002 (ed.) Forging Peace, Edinburgh, UK

Saxer, Ulrich & Grossenbacher, René 1987. *Medien und Entwicklungsprozess*, eine empirische Studie im westafrikanischen Benin, Köln, Germany

SCSP (Special Coordinator of the Stability Pact for South Eastern Europe) 2001a. *Support to Media in SEE – Strategy 2001-2004,* on: www.stabilitypact.org

SCSP (Special Coordinator of the Stability Pact for South Eastern Europe) 2001b. Media Task Force. *National Working Group Bosnia-Herzegovina, Action Plan,* on: www.stabilitypact.org

SCSP (Special Coordinator of the Stability Pact for South Eastern Europe) 2001c. Media Task Force. *National Working Group Serbia, Action Plan,* on: www.stabilitypact.org

SIDA (Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency) 2002. *Facts and Figures 2001 Culture and Media,* Stockholm, Sweden

SIDA 2000. Policy for SIDA's Development Cooperation in the Field of Culture, Stockholm, Sweden

SIDA 1995. Freedom of Expression, Stockholm, Sweden

Search for Common Ground 2000. Lessons from Nashe Maalo, on: www.sfcq.org/

Skopljanac Brunner, Nena & Gredelj, Stjepan & Hodzic, Alija & Kristofic, Branimir (eds.) 2000. *Media and War,* Zagreb and Belgrade

Stark Biddle, C. 1998. Evaluation of the USAID Professional Media Programme in Central and Eastern Europe, USAID, Washington, USA

Taylor, Maureen 1999. An Evaluation of USAID/OTI Media Transition Grants in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Washington, USA

UNESCO 2000a. Recommendations for Future Actions — Round table on Media in Conflict and Post Conflict Areas, Geneva, Switzerland

UNESCO 2000b. UNESCO SOS Media. Giving Help to Independent Media in the Cause of Freedom of Expression, Democracy and Peace, Paris, France

USAID 1999. Center for Democracy and Governance, *The Role of Media in Democracy: A Strategic Approach*, Washington, USA

USAID 2001. Office of Transition Initiatives. *Guide to Programme Options in Conflict-Prone Settings,* Washington, USA

World Bank 2002. *World Development Report 2002, The Media,* chapter 10, page 181 – 193, Washington, USA

10 Websites of institutions and organizations

International:

Article 19: www.article19.org

International Federation of Journalists: www.ifj.org

FRESTA programme: www.see.fresta.org

Baltic Media Centre: www.bmc.dk

Institute for War and Peace Reporting: www.iwpr.net

Open Society Institute - Network Media Program: www.osi.hu/nmp

Open Society National Foundations: www.soros.org

Search for Common Ground: www.scfg.org
European Institute for the Media: www.eim.org
Panos Institute, London: www.panos.org.uk

European Center for War, Peace and The News Media: www.nyu.edu/cwpnm

World Bank: www.worldbank.org

Swiss:

Fondation Hirondelle: www.hirondelle.org

Medienhilfe: www.medienhilfe.ch

Media Action International: www.mediaaction.org

Cimera: www.cimera.org

11 List of Illustrations

Illustration 1: Areas of Attention in Media and Peacebuilding	4
Illustration 2: Phases According to Intensity of Conflict	8
Illustration 3: Needs and Activities of Media Assistance in Different Conflict Phases	11

swisspeace Publications

ISBN 3-908230-47-0

Information Brochures swisspeace Brochure in German, Nr. 31 Schweiz. Friedensstiftung French or English (please underline (Hrsq.). the language you prefer). "Frauen an den Krisenherd". Sommer 2000. NCCR Brochure in German, French, ISBN 3-908230-37-3 **English and Russian (please** Nr. 30 Patricia Barandun. underline the language you prefer). A Gender Perspective on Conflict (for free) Resolution: The Development of the Northern Ireland Women's Coalition (NIWC) and its Role in the Multi-**Working Paper** Party Peace Talks (1996-1998). 1 / 02 Christoph Spurk. March 2000. Media and Peacebuilding: Concepts, ISBN 3-908230-35-7 Actors and Challenges. Nr. 29 Hanne-Margret Birckenbach. **KOFF-Series.** Präventive Diplomatie. Das Beispiel November 2002. der OSZE-Mission in Estland unter ISBN 3-908230-49-7 besonderer Berücksichtigung der Nr. 34 Heinz Krummenacher Beteiligung von Frauen. and Susanne Schmeidl. Mai 1999. **Practical Challenges in Predicting** ISBN 3-908230-34-9 Violent Conflict. FAST: An Example Nr. 28 Daniel Ziegerer. of a Comprehensive Early-Warning Umweltveränderungen und Methodology. Sicherheitspolitik aus der Sicht der October 2001. NATO. ISBN 3-908230-48-9 Oktober 1998. Nr. 33 Heinz Krummenacher. ISBN 3-908230-33-0 **Conflict Preventions and Power** Nr. 27 Günther Baechler. Politics: Central Asia as a Show Zivile Konfliktbearbeitung in Afrika. Case. Grundelemente für die Friedens-July 2001. förderungspolitik der Schweiz. ISBN 3-908230-46-2 März 1998. Nr. 32 Vicken Cheterian. ISBN 3-908230-32-2 Little Wars and a Great Game: Local Conflicts and International **Conference Paper** Competition in the Caucasus. July 2001. 1 / 02 swisspeace Jahreskonferenz ISBN 3-908230-45-4 2002. Die Friedenspolitik der Schweiz: Akteure - Instrumente -KOFF Peacebuilding Report 1/2001. Perspektiven. Barnett R. Rubin, Ashraf Ghani, November 2002. William Maley, Ahmed Rashid and ISBN 3-908230-50-0 Oliver Roy. Afghanistan: Reconstruction and Peacebuilding in a Regional (Working Papers and Conference Framework. Papers are available for CHF 15.-July 2001.

plus postage and packing.)

Another Publications of swisspeace associates

Laurent Goetschel, Magdalena Laurent Goetschel (Hg.). Bernath, Daniel Schwarz. Small States Inside and Outside the Schweizerische Aussenpolitik. European Union. Interests and Verlag Neue Zürcher Zeitung, 2002. Politics. ISBN 3-858323-951-8 Kluwer Academic Publishers Dordrecht, 1998. Susanne Schmeidl with Eugenia ISBN 0-792382-80-3 Piza-Lopez. Gender and Conflict Early Warning: Schweizerische Friedensstiftung / A Framework for Action. Österreichisches Studienzentrum für June 2002. Frieden und Konfliktlösung (Hg.). ISBN 1-898702-13-6 Friedensbericht 1999: Krisenprävention. Theorie und Praxis Luc Reychler and Thania Pfaffenholz ziviler Konfliktbearbeitung. Rüegger-Verlag Chur/Zürich, 1999. Peacebuilding – A Field Guide. ISBN 3-725306-40-0 Lynne Rienner Publishers, Inc., 2001. Günther Baechler. ISBN 1-55587-937-3 Violence Through Environmental Discrimination Causes, Rwanda Laurent Goetschel (Hg.) Arena, and Conflict Model. Vom Statisten zum Hauptdarsteller. Kluwer Academic Publishers Die Schweiz und ihre OSZE-Dordrecht, 1999. Präsidentschaft. ISBN 0-792354-95-8 Verlag Paul Haupt Bern, 1997. Die Aussenpolitik der neuen ISBN 3-258057-17-6 Bundesregierung. Berner Rede des Bundesministers des Auswärtigen Joschka Fischer. Gehalten am 14. Januar 1999 an

der Universität Bern.

Newsletters

On <u>www.swisspeace.org</u> you can register for our free e-mail Newsletters:

- KOFF (Center for Peacebuilding) Newsletter
- ACSF (Afghan Civil Society Forum) Newsletter

Order Form

Working Paper	
Nr:	
Conference Pap	er
Nr:	
More publicatio	ons of swisspeace staff members
Name:	
First name:	
Institution:	
Street:	
Zip-Code/City:	
Country:	
Tel/Fax:	
E-Mail:	
Date:	Signature:

Please send or fax it to:

swisspeace, Sonnenbergstrasse 17, Postfach, CH-3000 Bern 7, Schweiz Fax: +41 (0)31 330 12 13 info@swisspeace.ch www.swisspeace.org